

GROWTH, SURVIVAL AND NUTRITIONAL PROFILE OF MARINE LARVAE (Penaeus monodon) FED WITH SELECTED MICROALGAE

Mohammad Jabedul Islam

Roll No: 0119/01 Registration No: 691 Session: 2019-2020

A thesis submitted in the partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Aquaculture

> Department of Aquaculture Faculty of Fisheries Chattogram Veterinary and Animal Sciences University Khulshi, Chattogram-4225, Bangladesh

> > **JUNE 2020**

AUTHORIZATION

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of the thesis. I also authorize the Chattogram Veterinary and Animal Sciences University (CVASU) to lend this thesis to other institutions or individuals for the purpose of scholarly research. I further authorize the CVASU to reproduce the thesis by photocopying or by other means, in total or in part, at the request of other institutions or individuals for the purpose of scholarly research.

I, the undersigned, and author of this work, declare that the **electronic copy** of this thesis provided to the CVASU Library, is an accurate copy of the print thesis submitted, within the limits of the technology available.

Mohammad Jabedul Islam

June 2020

GROWTH, SURVIVAL AND NUTRITIONAL PROFILE OF MARINE LARVAE (Penaeus monodon) FED WITH SELECTED MICROALGAE

Mohammad Jabedul Islam

Roll No: 0119/01 Registration No: 691 Session: 2019-2020

This is to certify that we have examined the above Master's thesis and have found that is complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that all revisions required by the thesis examination committee have been made

Supervisor Dr. Helena Khatoon Assistant Professor, Department of Aquaculture, CVASU Co-supervisor Mohammad Redwanur Rahman Assistant Professor, Department of Aquaculture, CVASU

Joyshri Sarker Chairman of the Examination Committee

Department of Aquaculture

Faculty of Fisheries

Chattogram Veterinary and Animal Sciences University Khulshi, Chattogram-4225, Bangladesh

JUNE 2020

Dedicated

70 my

Beloved parents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

All praises are due to the Almighty Allah for blessing me with the strength, aptitude, patience and enabled me to pursue higher education and to complete the thesis for the degree of Masters of Science (MS) in Aquaculture.

First of all, I want to pay heartily gratitude to **Professor Dr. Goutam Buddha Das**, Vice-Chancellor, Chattogram Veterinary and Animal Sciences University (CVASU) for giving special opportunity and providing such research facilities.

I would like to pay my sincere regards and thanks to **Prof. Dr. M. Nurul Absar Khan**, Dean, Faculty of Fisheries, CVASU, who introduced Master's program in the Faculty of Fisheries and provided update instrument and laboratory for conducting any kind of research.

I would like to express with great pleasure my deepest sense of gratitude, sincere appreciation, deep respect and profound indebtedness to my honored instructor and research supervisor **Dr. Helena Khatoon**, Assistant Professor, Dept. of Aquaculture, CVASU for giving the opportunity to do research and provide invaluable guidance and continuous support. I was profoundly motivated by her dynamism, vision, honesty and inspiration. Under her guidance, it was a great pleasure and honor to work and learn.

I feel proud in expressing my regard and immense gratitude to my co- Supervisor **Mohammad Redwanur Rahman**, Assistant Professor, Dept. of Aquaculture, CVASU for his kind co-operation, valuable suggestions and constructive criticism in improving the quality of the research work.

I express my deepest sense of gratitude, indebtedness, sincere appreciation and profound regards to my honorable teacher **Joyshri Sarker**, Assistant Professor & Head, Dept. of Aquaculture, CVASU for her scholastic guidance and cordial support, throughout the course of this research work.

I am greatly indebted to **Ishrat Jahan Anka**, Assistant Professor, Dept. of Aquaculture CVASU for her valuable advice, scholastic guidance, and inspiration throughout the research.

Finally, I would like to express my cordial thanks to all the academic staffs of CVASU, my loving friends and research students of the Department of Aquaculture for their active assistance during the whole study period.

At last, my heartfelt respects and thanks to my beloved parents for their ultimate understanding, inspirations, moral support, blessings and endless love to complete this study. Thank you.

The Author

Mohammad Jabedul Islam

CONTENTS

CHAPTER	TITLE	PAGE NO.
	AUTHORIZATION	i
	ACKLOWLEDGEMENT	iii-iv
	LIST OF TABLES	viii
	LIST OF FIGURES	ix
	LIST OF APPENDICES	X
	LIST OF ABBREVIATION	xi-xii
	ABSTRACT	xiii
1	INTRODUCTION	01-04
	1.1 Aims and objectives of the research	04
2	REVIEW OF LITERATURE	05-17
	2.1 General description of microalgae	05
	2.2 Application of microalgae in aquaculture	06-07
	2.3 Taxonomic classification and characterization of	07-09
	the microalgae species	
	2.3.1 Tetraselmis chuii	07-08
	2.3.2 Chlorella vulgaris	08-09
	2.4 Biology and ecology of Penaeus monodon	10-17
	2.4.1 Penaeus mondon	10
	2.4.2 Taxonomic characteristics and	10
	classification	
	2.4.3 Morphology	11
	2.4.4 Color in life	11
	2.4.5 Distribution	11
	2.4.6 Life history	12
	2.4.6.1 Reproduction and Sexuality	12
	2.4.6.2 Morphological Development	12
	2.4.6.2.1 Embryo	12
	2.4.6.2.2 Larva	13
	2.4.6.2.3 Juvenile	13
	2.4.6.2.4 Adolescent	13
	2.4.6.2.5 Sub-adult	14-15

2.4.6.2.6 Adult	15
2.4.7 Salinity tolerance	16
2.4.8 Longevity	16
2.4.9 Feeding behavior	16
2.4.10 Nutritional requirements of shrimp post	17
larvae	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	18-23
3.1 Study area and collection of microalgae species	18
3.2 Seawater collection	18
3.3 Media preparation	18
3.4 Culture of microalgae	19-20
3.5 Mass culture of microalgae	20
3.6 Feed formulation for Penaeus monodon postlarve	20
3.7 Proximate analysis of formulated feed	20-21
3.7.1 Protein analysis	20-21
3.7.2 Lipid analysis	21
3.7.3 Carbohydrate analysis	21
3.8 Experimental setup	22
3.9 Water quality analysis	22
3.9.1 Physical parameter analysis	22
3.9.1.1 Temperature	22
3.9.1.2 Salinity	22
3.9.1.3 pH	22
3.9.1.4 Dissolved oxygen	22
3.9.2 Chemical parameter analysis	22-23
3.9.2.1 Total Ammonia Nitrogen (TAN)	22-23
3.9.2.2 Determination of Nitrite (NO ₂ -N)	23
3.9.2.3 Determination of Phosphate phosphorus	23
(PO ₄ - P)	
3.10 Survival percentages and growth rate of shrimp	23
post larvae	

3

4	RESULTS	26-35
	4.1 Proximate composition of different microalgae	26
	4.2 Proximate Composition of the Formulated Feed	26-27
	4.3 Proximate composition of Shrimp post larvae	27-28
	4.4 Water Quality in Shrimp Culture Tanks	28-35
	4.4.1 Physical Analyses of Water Quality	28-29
	4.4.2 Chemical Analyses of Water Quality	29-33
	4.5 Shrimp Survival and Specific Growth Rate	33-35
5	DISCUSSION	36-41
	5.1 Proximate composition of Microalgae and	37-38
	Formulated feed	
	5.2 Proximate composition of Shrimp Postlarvae	38-39
	5.3 Water Quality of the Culture Tanks	39-40
	5.4 Specific Growth Rate and Survival Rate of Shrimp	40-41
	Postlarvae	
6	CONCLUSIONS	43
7	RECOMMENDATION AND FUTURE	45
	PRESPECTIVES	
	References	47-60
	Appendices	62-70
	Biography of Author	72

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE	TITLE	PAGE
NO.		NO.
1	Chemical composition of Conway medium (Tompkins et	19
	al.,1995)	
2	Proximate Composition of the Formulated Feed	27
3	Temperature (°C), dissolved oxygen (mg L ⁻¹), pH range	29
	and salinity (ppt) range in control and treated tanks	

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE	TITLE	PAGE
NO.		NO.
1	Tetraselmis chuii under optika microscope	08
2	Chlorella vulgaris under optika microscope	09
3	Black tiger shrimp (Penaeus monodon)	10
4	Geographic distribution of <i>Penaeus monodon</i> (Motoh 1981)	12
5	Larval stages of P. monodon (Motoh, 1981, 1985)	14
6	Diagram of the life history of the giant tiger prawn, <i>P</i> .	15
	monodon (Motoh, 1981)	
7	Proximate composition of dried algae (a) Chlorella sp. (b)	26
	Tetraselmis chuii used to replace fish meal in diets of	
	Penaeus monodon PLs	
8	Proximate composition of Penaeus monodon fed with 2	28
	different algae (a) Tetraselmis chuii (b) Chlorella sp. with	
	the replacement of fish meal (25%, 50% and 75%) over the	
	17 days of period.	
9	Total ammonia nitrogen (mg L ⁻¹), NO ₂ -N concentration (mg	30-31
	L^{-1}) and PO ₄ -P concentration (mg L^{-1}) of all treatments at	
	entire culture period fed with Tetraselmis chuii as	
	experimental diet.	
10	Total ammonia nitrogen (mg L ⁻¹), NO ₂ -N concentration (mg	32-33
	L^{-1}) and PO ₄ -P concentration (mg L^{-1}) of all treatments	
	during the entire culture period fed with Chlorella vulgaris	
	as experimental diet.	
11	(a) SGR (Day ⁻¹) % and (b) Survival rate of <i>P. monodon</i> in	34
	all treatments after fed with T. chuii	
12	(a) Survival rate and (b) SGR (Day^{-1}) % of <i>P. monodon</i> in	35
	all treatments after fed with Chlorella sp.	

LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX	TITLE	PAGE
NO.		NO.
1	Culture of Tetraselmis chuii	58
2	Mass culture of Tetraselmis chuii	58
3	Culture of Chlorella vulgaris	58
4	Mass culture of Chlorella vulgaris	59
5	Centrifuging to collect biomass of microalgae	59
6	Dry biomass of microalgae	59
7	Formulated feed (CF, T25, T50, T75, CH25, CH50 and	60
	CH75)	
8	Experimental setup for feeding experiment	60
9	Feeding with formulated feed (CF, T25, T50, T75, CH25,	60
	CH50 and CH75)	
10	PLs counted at the end of experiment	61
11	One-way Analysis of Variance examining the water quality	61
	of treatment tanks of Penaeus monodon after the	
	microalgae used as diet	
12	One-way Analysis of Variance examining the protein, lipid	61-64
	and carbohydrate content of treatment tanks of Penaeus	
	monodon after the microalgae used as diet	
13	One-way Analysis of Variance examining the SGR and	65-66
	Survival rate of treatment tanks of Penaeus monodon after	
	the microalgae used as diet	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CF	Control Feed	
CH25	25% Chlorella vulgaris	
CH50	50% Chlorella vulgaris	
CH75	75% Chlorella vulgaris	
CL	Carapace length	
C. vulgaris	Chlorella vulgaris	
CMC	Carboxymethylcellulose	
CuSO ₄ , 5H ₂ O	Cupric sulphate	
DW	Dry weight	
DO	Dissolved oxygen	
DoF	Department of Fisheries	
EDTA ^(b) , di-sodium salt	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid disodium salt	
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization	
FeCl ₃	Ferric chloride	
FM	Fish meal	
gm	gram	
HCL	Hydrochloric acid	
H^+	Hydrogen ion	
H ₃ BO ₃	Boric acid	
H2O	Water	
L	Liter	
$MnCl_{2}, 4H_{2}O$	Manganous chloride	
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide	
NaH ₂ PO ₄ , 2H ₂ O	Sodium di-hydrogen orthophosphate	
(NH ₄)6Mo ₇ O ₂₄ , 4H ₂ O	Ammonium molybdate	
mg	milligram	
min	Minute	
ml	Milliliter	
mm	Millimeter	
MilliQH ₂ O	Highly purified water from MilliQ Water	
	Purification System (Milllipore, Milford, MA)	
mg L ⁻¹	Milligram per liter	

MT	Metric Ton
NO ₂ -N	Nitrite nitrogen
PL	Postlarvae
PLs	Postlarvaes
P. monodon	Penaeus monodon
rpm	rotation per minute
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SE	Standard error
PO ₄ -P	Phosphate phosphorus
ppt	part per thousand
TAN	Total ammonia nitrogen
T25	25 % Tetraselmis chuii
T50	50 % Tetraselmis chuii
T75	75 % Tetraselmis chuii
$ZnCl_2$	Zinc cloride
%	Percentage
β	Beta
μL	Microlitre
μm	Micrometer
°C	Degree celcius
SGR	Specific growth rate

ABSTRACT

Shrimp (Penaeus monodon) aquaculture is expanding in Bangladesh and plays an important role in socio-economic development. The growing demand for fishmeal in aquaculture diets has prompted the hunt for cheaper and sustainable protein ingredients. In this analysis, a PL shrimp Penaeus monodon feeding trial was performed in which two dried microalgae, Tetraselmis chuii and Chlorella sp., were used to substitute fish meal protein. 25% (T25), 50% (T50), 75% (T75) of T. chuii and 25% (CH25), 50% (CH50), 75% (CH75) of Chlorella sp. were supplemented to PLs in triplicates for 17 days for each treatment and fed to shrimp PL to determine the survival rate, growth efficiency and nutritional composition of the experimental diets. Fish meal (0%) feed replacement without microalgae treated as control. The findings demonstrated the significant (p < 0.05) high weight growth of two experimental diets: T25 % and CH25 % as compared to formulated feeds of 100% fish meal. In addition, the survival rates (p < 0.05) of PLs filled with T25 and CH25 % were significantly greater than those of the control. In the tanks for shrimp culture fed with Tetraselmis chuii and Chlorella sp., total ammonium nitrogen (TAN), nitrite nitrogen (NO₂-N) and phosphate phosphorus (PO₄-P) were significantly lower, p < 0.05). This study has shown that microalgae can potentially optimize water quality and reduce costs for sustainable shrimp cultivation.

Keywords: Penaeus monodon, Fish Meal, Microalgae, Water quality.

CHAPTER-1

INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER-1

INTRODUCTION

Aquaculture (farming of aquatic animals and plants) continues to be the world's leading food production industry for water, and in Asia and around the world has expanded rapidly (FAO, 2020). Bangladesh ranked 3rd in inland fish production worldwide, 5th in aquaculture production and 11th in 2018 in marine fish production (FAO, 2020). Bangladesh's all-out fishery production in 2018-2019 was 43.84 lakh metric tons, while inland open water (capture) accounts for 28.19% (12.36 lakh metric tons) and inland closed water (culture) accounts for 56.76% (24.89 lakh metric tons). Then again, marine fish production at the level of 6.599 lakh MT is 15.05 % (DoF, 2020). In 2018-19, fisheries sector contributes 3.50% to the national GDP and more than one-fourth (25.72%) to the agricultural GDP (DoF, 2020). Shrimp is one of Bangladesh's most valuable export commodities. In 2002-03, total production of shrimp and prawn, including caught shrimp, increased, from 1.60 lakh MT to 2.58 lakh MT in 2018-2019 and its growth rate was 1.44% (DoF, 2020). As the second biggest supporter of export earnings of Bangladesh, the fishery and aquaculture sectors emerged. By exporting nearly 73171.31 MT of fish and fishery products in 2018-19, the country earns about 630.29 million USD, where traded frozen shrimp/ prawn has a great contribution (DoF, 2020). Bangladesh, becoming possibly the world's most suitable countries in prawn and shrimp cultivation, with its large resources of shallow water bodies, gives a kind of chance of creeks and shrimp production (Ahmed et al., 2008; Islam, 2008). After garments clothes, frozen seafood is the second largest export product in Bangladesh (Rahman and Hossain, 2009). According to Bangladesh Frozen Food Exporter Association (BFFEA) 85% of shrimp exported from Bangladesh were sent to European countries while 15% were destined to the USA, Japan and other countries. Bangladesh earned 124.000 million USD by exporting frozen shrimp in the fiscal year 2018-19. In Bangladesh, frozen shrimp exports amounted to 36864 tons in 2002-03, around 33362.52 tons in 2018-19, (DoF, 2020). Similarly, numerous initiatives and enhancement projects are being revised for the increased production and promotion of shrimp aquaculture. The community cultivation approach is encouraged to boost the improvement of shrimp production and advance a business-accommodating supply chain by implementing good aquaculture practices.

In terms of production value, marine shrimp cultivation is one of the major and important commercial aquaculture activities because shrimps are considered a highly valued seafood commodity (Anand et al., 2014). For decades, shrimp aquaculture has been rising rapidly with aquaculture growth (Kim et al., 2015). Due to sufficient agroclimate conditions, adequate water supplies, cheap labor, foreign donor agencies and the involvement of multinational corporations, shrimp farming is increasing in Bangladesh (Paul and Vogl, 2011). *Penaeus monodon*, the largest Penaeid Indian tiger prawn, is widely distributed in Indian waters and forms an important fishery with strong export market demand. The giant *Penaeus monodon* tiger prawn is only one of approximately 100 species of commercially important penaeid prawns and shrimp in catching fisheries and/or aquaculture. It is the predominant cultural species in the Indo-Pacific region because of its large size, rapid growth rate, high survival, resistance to handling and good breeding in captivity (Motoh H, 1985).

The rapid expansion of aquaculture for commercial fish and crustacean production has led to a rising demand for improved and cost-effective feed production. In addition, the expansion of aquaculture is also limited because of its heavy dependency on fishmeal (Browdy et al., 2001). The cost of shrimp farming is largely dependent on feed, which accounts for 40-60% of operating costs (Tan et al., 2005). This is primarily due to the price in commercial diets of protein components (Bender et al., 2004). The 30 % digestible protein in feed is typically needed in the commercial culture process and is the most costly component of the diet (Ayisi et al., 2017). Protein is the costliest ingredient in realistic shrimp culture diets, with fish meal (FM) being the most widely used source of protein in commercial feeds (Oujifard et al., 2012).

Owing to its balanced content of amino acids, fatty acids, vitamins, and minerals, fishmeal is an important ingredient in marine shrimp diets (Suárez et al., 2009). Because of their high-quality amino acids and long-chain unsaturated fatty acids (UFAs), fish meal and fish oil are the key contributors to protein and oil (Tacon and Metian, 2008). Around 40% of all aquaculture production now relies heavily on commercial feed. In particular, this refers to high-value carnivorous animals, such as shrimp, salmon and trout, whose feed includes significant quantities of marine input in the form of fish meal (Alvarez et al., 2007). Commercial formulations of shrimp typically contain 25 to 50% FM (Amaya et al., 2007). The quantity of fresh fish used

for fish meals and fish oil has achieved or approached its highest sustainable production in recent years (Cashion et al., 2017; Kris-Etherton et al., 2009; Sarker et al., 2016). In addition, the consumption of fish competes with its use in human food, and fish oil and fish meal prices are increasing. These factors have a detrimental impact on the development of the demand for aquafeeds. The quest for alternative sources of protein and lipids to substitute or minimize the use of fish meal and fish oil has thus become one of the main recommendations for aquaculture research (Hossain and Chakraborty, 2017; Lee et al., 2018).

Limited supply and high demand, however, make the fish meal a costly ingredient and unprofitable for aquaculture operations. The increasing demand for fishmeal in aquaculture diets has prompted the requirement for cheaper and much more sustainable protein ingredients (Salze et al., 2010). While alternative plant proteins are initially selected to be less costly and more accessible than FM, plant proteins with an acceptable balance of amino acid profile, good digestibility, high protein content and palatability should also be considered (Sánchez-Lozano et al., 2009). Plant protein sources are both economically and nutritionally useful alternatives to fishmeal due to their low price and stable nutrient composition and availability. Due to its balanced amino acid profile, predictable structure, and worldwide availability, plant protein sources have gained significant attention when replacing fish meal in aquatic animal feed.

Microalgal products have been reported (Boonyaratpalin, 2001; Ju et al., 2009; Supamattaya et al., 2005), macroalgae (Yeh et al., 2006), probiotics (Wang, 2007; Yang et al., 2010; Ziaei-Nejad et al., 2006), prebiotics (Zhang et al., 2012) and periphyton (Anand et al., 2013) and many are used as dietary supplements in shrimp farming to improve development, immune response and digestive enzyme activities. Using microalgae for animal nutrition provides an economically viable (Chen et al., 2020). In the animal nutrition and agricultural industries, microalgae have high potential application values as sources of proteins, lipids, vitamins, minerals and pigments, plus the carbon-neutral advantages of CO₂ fixation to mitigate the discharge of greenhouse gas (GHG) (Brune et al., 2009; Shah et al., 2018). There was no adverse impact on the growth and biochemical composition of aquatic animals when adding algal at a certain ratio in the feed (Dallaire et al., 2007). The nutritional values of algal biochemical components, including amino acids, fatty acids, carotenoids and components, have been evaluated in several studies and the findings indicate that microalgae are promising for their economically viable incorporation into feed (Tibbetts, Bjornsson, et al., 2015). Currently, more than 40 species of microalgae have been used as live or dead cell food sources to enhance the characteristics of aquatic animals, such as fish, mussels and shrimps (Pulz and Gross, 2004; Rahman et al., 2018). The production of environmentally friendly feed additives as immunostimulants is promoted by legal limitations or bans on antibiotic administration in aquaculture (Hoseinifar et al., 2016). Microalgae antimicrobial metabolites have gained more and more interest in recent years (Cavallo et al., 2013). Algal products such as proteins and lipids are considered to be some of the most promising sources of feed in aquaculture, but their use in modern aquaculture is just beginning and needs further assessment (Tibbetts et al., 2015). For aquatic animals such as shrimp, the requirement of an EAA or EFA (essential fatty acid) is not as easily integrated into feed as its corresponding amino acid or fatty acid, as crystalline amino acids or fatty acids may often not be effectively used (Chen et al., 1992).

Research is therefore required to decide if less costly feed ingredients will substitute shrimp feed with fish meal. The aim of this research is to assess the potential of two commercial marine microalgae, *T. chuii* and *C. Vulgaris*, which is used as a source of alternate sources of protein for *P. monodon* diets.

1.1 Aims and objectives of the study:

The aim of this study is to observe the effects of inclusion of selected dried microalgae on growth rate, survival, and nutritional profile in *Penaeus monodon*. The objectives of this study were as follows:

- To conduct the mass culture, biomass harvest of microalgae and formulate diets for shrimp PL using microalgae
- To determine the water quality parameters from shrimp PLs culture tanks fed with microalgae
- To determine the nutritional composition of two different experimental microalgal strains

CHAPTER-2

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

CHAPTER-2

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

2.1 General description of microalgae:

Algae are a diverse aquatic species, typically classified as either macroalgae (i.e., seaweed) or microalgae, photosynthetic organisms (unicellular). Microalgae grow as aquatic plant families in aerated, liquid cultures where the cells have adequate access to light, carbon dioxide and other nutrients (Rosenberg et al., 2008). Algal habitats range from open oceans (occupied by planktonic microalgal species), to rocky shores (occupied by marine macroalgae or seaweeds and benthic microalgae), to freshwater habitats (often inhabited by noticeable filamentous algae), including rivers, lakes, ditches and ponds (Stengel et al., 2011). Algae are generally grown autotrophically; however. by degrading organic substances. some species survive can heterotrophically (Chen and Chen, 2006). Most algae are photosynthetic and have biological and ecological roles that are similar to those of plants (Stengel et al., 2011).

Microalgae are a diverse group of microorganisms that undergo photosynthesis in order to transform solar energy into chemical energy (Shanab et al., 2012). Algae are ecologically important as a primary producer and have been used by humans as food and medicine for centuries. Diversity of microalgae includes, prokaryotic microalgae such as cyanobacteria (Chloroxybacteria) and eukaryotic microalgae such as diatom (Bacillariophyta), green algae (Chlorophyta) and red algae (Rhodophyta) (Michaud, 2013). While there were approximately 200,000 species before several million microalgae were present, there has been a lack of research on the biochemical properties of microalgae and only a limited number of species are currently commonly used globally (Richmond, 2006). Because of its high productivity, minimal seasonal variation, easier extraction and diversification, microalgae are considered superior to conventional plants (Christaki et al., 2012). In addition, microalgae can also grow rapidly, withstand tough environments and environmental stressors, such as heat, cold, salinity gradient and ultraviolet radiation exposure (Christaki et al., 2012). The worldwide market for food and feed supplements / nutraceuticals based on microalgae is well established. Microalgae as a possible source of bioactive compounds such as phenol, tocopherols and carotenoids, which are safer and more sustainable, have been gradually taken into account (Safafar et al., 2015).

2.2 Application of microalgae in aquaculture

In recent years the use of microalgae based on its bioactive chemical component has developed rapidly in areas such as fruit, pharmaceutical, cosmetics, aquaculture and horticulture (Wang et al., 2015). This is due to the chemical composition of microalgae which are known to be rich in bioactive compounds such as omega-3-fatty acids, protein, lipid and also antioxidants (Ozkan and Berberoglu, 2013). All algae contain proteins, carbohydrates, lipids and nucleic acids in varying proportions (Koru and Delice, 2014). Microalgae act as the primary producer for the entire aquatic food chain which makes them a very important food source in aquaculture, especially during the culture of filter feeder shrimp, herbivorous and omnivorous fish and planktonic mollusks (Muller-Feuga, 2000). For many aquaculture species, especially marine finfish and invertebrates, the key function of microalgae as a preferred or compulsory source of feed is (Tredici et al., 2009). Microalgae are used in aquaculture to provide essential nutrients or as a color enhancer for the flesh and skin of fishes (Hemaiswarya et al., 2011). In intensive aquaculture, hatcheries cultivate and periodically administer individual strains of microalgae in separate reactors to the farmed species (Shields and Lupatsch, 2012). In addition, they are often used extensively during the larval rearing of mollusks, shrimps and some fish species (Catarina and Xavier, 2012). Several studies have shown that microalgae are suitable for aquaculture live feed due to their high sterols and essential fatty acids. For crustaceans, the sterols naturally available in microalgae are important as they cannot synthesize this (Teshima et al., 1982). In addition to lipids, vitamins or pigments, under optimized culture conditions, microalgae may also contain high protein amounts of up to 70% of dry weight (Richmond, 2006).

The nutritional value of microalgae varies between species and culture conditions and according to Fujii et al. (2010), microalgae species can contain between 30-40% protein, 10-20% lipid and 5-15% of carbohydrate under normal nutrient condition. The proximate composition of microalgae is influenced by culture parameters such as light (intensity and photoperiod), temperature and pH (Khatoon et al., 2014). In addition to their nutritional content, other essential requirements for the selection of microalgae species for aquaculture use are their simple cultivation method, non-toxic, cell size and shape, and the digestible cell wall (Hemaiswarya et al., 2011; Patil et al., 2007). The development of Hatchery rotary plants originally was based on live

microalgae and/or bakery yeast feed (Conceição et al., 2010). Genera and species of major microalgae strain used in aquaculture include T. suecica, T. chuii, C. vulgaris, D. salina, H. pluvialis, C. calcitrans, N. oculata, Navicula sp., and Isochrysis galbana (Shields and Lupatsch, 2012). In addition to their applications in hatcheries, microalgae also attracted attention as animal feed supplements because of their bioactive constituents, which have contributed to their functional properties, according to Spolaore et al. (2006). Algae have been credited with enhancing the immune system even when used in limited amounts in livestock and aquaculture feeds (Turner et al., 2002), lipid metabolism (Güroy et al., 2011; Nakagawa, 1997), antiviral and antibacterial action, enhanced gut function (Michiels et al., 2011), stress tolerance (Nath et al., 2012; Sheikhzadeh et al., 2012) besides providing a protein source, amino acid (Gouveia et al., 2008). Aqueous microalgae extract has also been reported to exhibit antioxidants, anticancer and antiviral activities (Santoyo et al., 2012; Shanab et al., 2012). The extract of Chorella autotrophica, Porphyridium cruentum and Ellipsoidon sp., in a report by Fabregas et al. (1999), were found to be very effective in inhibiting the replication of haemorrhagic septicemia virus and African swine fever virus. In addition to its ability to produce antioxidants and other economically valuable bioactive compounds, microalgae also has commercial application because of the rapid growth rate and the lower amount of nutrients of nutrients required during culture (Lee et al., 2006).

2.3 Taxonomic Classification and Characterization of the Microalgae Species

2.3.1 Tetraselmis chuii

Domain: Eukaryote

Kingdom: Viridiplantae

Phylum: Chlorophyta

Class: Prasinophyceae

Order: Chlorodendrales

Family: Chlorodendraceae

Genus: Tetraselmis

According to Borowitzka (2018) *Tetraselmis* sp. are unicellular flagellates with an elapsed ovoid cell shape, with motile cells slightly flattened, and typically 10 µm long x 14 µm broad. It has four flagels equal in length, a medium to thick cell wall, and when swimming with the body rotating and the flagella at the front end, it moves in a straight line. This species reproduces by binary fusions and sexual reproduction has never been observed; the motile cells become non-motile when cell divisions occur, or the non-motile cells of some species are attached to the surface. During the dark time, cell divisions occur with the energy gathered during the day in the form of carbohydrate storage, while the separation of cells is caused by the onset of light. *Tetraselmis* is easy to grow, and a number of species are widely used as aquacultural feed, such as *Tetraselmis chui*, *Tetraselmiss uecica* and *Tetraselmis tetrahele*. Most recently, *Tetraselmis* euryhaline strains that can expand over a very large salinity range have gained attention as potential sustainable biofuel lipid sources (Fon-Sing and Borowitzka, 2016).



Figure 1: Tetraselmis chuii under optika microscope

2.3.2 Chlorella vulgaris

Domain: Eukaryota

Phylum: Chlorophyta

Class: Trebouxiophyceae

Order: Chlorellales

Family: Chlorellaceae

Genus: Chlorella

The first algae with small globular cells to be isolated by Beijerinck (1890) in culture is Chlorella (green algae; Chlorophyta). Chlorella was also one of the first considered microalgae developed for mass cultivation. The Chlorella type is a single, spherical to ovoid microalgae of $2.0 - 10.0 \mu m$ diameter with a cup-like chloroplast (Bock et al., 2011; Phukan et al., 2011). The cells are covered by a thin cellulose wall. Chlorella was initially used as a food source rich in protein, but was also proposed as a source of biofuel. Chlorella predominantly freshwater but a few marine species are known and especially abundant in very nutrient-rich. Currently, 44 Chlorella species are recognized (Guiry and Guiry, 2017), but with further research, this number is likely to change. This involves high-temperature tolerance strains, as some strains can grow between 15°C and 40°C (Masojídek and Torzillo, 2008). The strains of Chlorella grow autotrophically in both inorganic and mixotrophic and heterotrophic environments (e.g., with the addition of acetic acid and glucose). Autospores which reproduce asexually by mitosis are the *Chlorella* cells (Yamamoto et al., 2004). As it is commonly used as a health food and feed supplement, as well as in the pharmaceutical and cosmetics industry, *Chlorella* is widely used as a healthy food and feed supplement, as well as in the pharmaceutical and cosmetics industry. It contains proteins, carotenoids, some immunostimulators, polysaccharides, vitamins, and minerals. Chlorella strains may be suitable for diesel replacements (Xu et al., 2006).



Figure 2: Chlorella vulgaris under optika microscope

2.4 Biology and Ecology of Penaeus monodon

2.4.1 Penaeus monodon

Penaeus monodon is known in Asian countries as the tiger shrimp, particularly in the waters of the Bay of Bengal. A variety of environmental factors affect the growth and survival of *Penaeus monodon* (Fabricius) (Chakraborti, 1986).



Figure 3: Black tiger shrimp (Penaeus monodon) (Courtesy: Anglingforfun)

2.4.2 Taxonomic Characteristics and classification:

John Christ Fabricius published the initial description of *Penaeus monodon* in 1798. (Mohamed, 1967). The giant tiger prawn's taxonomic description is as follows:

Phylum: Arthropoda

Class: Crustacea

Subclass: Malacostraca

Order: Decapoda

Family: Penaeidae

Genus: Penaeus

Specie: P. monodon

2.4.3 Morphology

The morphological features of *P.monodon* have been described in detail by many scientists from various countries (Motoh, 1981; Motoh and Buri, 1981; Motoh H, 1985; Racek and Yaldwyn, 1970; Feng et al., 2018). The following description includes important features sufficient for the identification of this species.

The shell is smooth, shiny and glamorous. The rostrum reaches beyond the tip of the antennular peduncle, has a sigmoidal form and has 6-8 dorsal and 2-4 ventral teeth, respectively, mostly 7 and 3. The carapace is carinated, nearly touching the posterior margin of the carapace with the rostral carina. The posterior one-third to one-half distance between the carapace's post-orbital edge and the hepatic spine is filled by the gastro-orbital carina. A prominent and almost horizontal hepatic carina is included. The antennular flagellum is sub-equal to or slightly longer than the peduncle. Exopods are present in the first four pereopods, but they are absent in the fifth. The abdomen is carinated dorsally from the anterior one-third of the fourth to the posterior end of the sixth. The telson has a median groove, but without a dorsolateral spine.

2.4.4 Color in life:

The abdomen and the carapace are transversely banded in red and white. The antennas are brown greyish. Pereopods and pleopods are brown and fringing setae red. When in shallow brackish water or in pools, the color becomes dark brown and sometimes blackish (Motoh and Buri, 1981).

2.4.5 Distribution

Giant tiger shrimp is widely distributed in most of the Indo-Pacific region, including Indonesia, Thailand, Malaysia, Hungary, Singapore, Hungary, South Africa, Somalia, Madagascar, Saudi Arabia, Oman, Pakistan, Indian, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka and Papua New Guinea (Motoh, 1985; Altuve et al. 2008; Gómez-Lemos and Campos 2008; Cintra et al. 2011). In general, *P. monodon* is distributed at longitude between 30 °E and 155 °E and at latitude between 35 °N and 35 °S, with the main fishing grounds located in tropical countries, in particular Indonesia, Malaysia and the Philippines. The fry, juvenile, and adolescent inhabit shore areas and mangrove estuaries, while most of the adults inhabit deeper waters down to 162 m (Motoh, 1985).



Figure 4: Geographic distribution of *Penaeus monodon* (Motoh 1981)

2.4.6 Life history

2.4.6.1 Reproduction and Sexuality

P. monodon has a heterosexual nature. The female is comparatively bigger than the male. A combined petasma, two masculine appendixes on exopods of the second pleopods, and a genital opening at the coxa of one fifth pereopod of the male can discern the sexually mature crevice. The external genital organs are the mixture. In females thelycum is found on the coxa of the third pereopod from the fourth and fifth pereopod, with a genital opening (Motoh, 1985). Age and size of *P.monodon* (male) have a major effect on spermatophore development, growth and maturation, sperm count and normal sperm percentage (Jiang et al., 2009)

2.4.6.2 Morphological Development

2.4.6.2.1 Embryo:

Eggs, with a diameter ranging from 0.27 to 0.31 mm and an average of 0.29 mm, are spherical, yellowish-green, and minute. In calm waters, eggs begin to sink slowly. The 2-celled, 4-celled, morula and embryonic nauplius cleavage stages occur

approximately 0.5, 1, 1.8 and 11 hours after spawning, respectively. It is noted that the nauplius shifts intermittently in each egg before hatching (Motoh, 1985).

2.4.6.2.2 Larva:

The larval stage is made up of 6 nauplius, 3 protozoa, 3 mysis, and 3 or 4 megalopa substages, requiring approximately 1.5 days, 5 days, 4-5 days, and 6-15 days for growth, respectively (Motoh, 1979, 1981, 1985). Larvae demonstrate offshore planktonic behavior at offshore with antennal propulsion for swimming in mysis nauplius, antennal and thoracic propulsion in mysis, and megalopa abdominal propulsion. Since the nauplii use yolk granules inside their body, in protozoa and mysis (collectively called zoea) substages, feeding begin. According to Motoh (1985), the earlier juvenile stage megalopa (typically known as postlarva or 'fry' for commercial purposes) is translucent with a dark brown stripe at the tip of the teleson on the ventral side of the antennular flagellum. Under laboratory conditions, on the sixth day of the post-larval period, post-larvae become benthic. The megalopa reaches the nursery soil under normal conditions. Megalopa carapace lengths range between 1.2 mm and 2.3 mm. Even during the postlarval stage, shrimp undergo gut morphological changes during the ontogeny (Cicala et al., 2020).

2.4.6.2.3 Juvenile:

As in the megalopa, the earlier juvenile stage has a translucent body on the ventral side with a dark brown streak. The earlier juvenile stages were described by Motoh (1985) as follows: (1) relatively shorter sixth abdominal segment compared to the length of the carapace, (2) greater body size, (3) full rostral spine formula, (4) complete gill system, and (5) benthic behavior.

The body becomes blackish in color and voluminous in the later stage, and the rostrum has 7 dorsal and 3 ventral spines. As in adults, the juvenile crawls are using the pereopods and swims using the pleopods. The carapace length ranges from 2.2 to 11.0 mm. The early postmysis phases of the giant tiger prawn have been described (Motoh, 1985; Motoh and Buri, 1980, 1981).

2.4.6.2.4 Adolescent:

This stage resembles the adult prawn. Sexes are now distinct beginning at 11 mm Carapace Length (CL). The minimum size of males with a joined petasma is approximately 30 mm CL and the minimum size of females with adult-like thelycum is approximately 37 mm CL. The adolescent's carapace length ranges between 11 and 34 mm.(Motoh, 1985)

2.4.6.2.5 Subadult:

This stage is the onset of sexual maturity. In its terminal ampoule, the male has spermatozoa. The thelycum of the female now contains spermatozoa. Females grow



Figure 5: Larval stages of P. monodon (Motoh, 1981, 1985)

faster at this stage (30 mm CL) and migration from nursery to spawning grounds starts. The first copulation occurs between males and females with a minimum of 37 mm and 47 mm CL, respectively, during migration.

2.4.6.2.6 Adult:

This stage has very similar appendages to the subadult and is marked by the completion of sexual maturity. This varies only with the size and habitat of the subadult. Males possess spermatozoa, and females start to spawn offshore although a few spawns in shallow water. In most species, a second or more copulation can occur.

The maximum total length recorded was 336 mm (Holthuis 1980), while a mature female of 307 mm according to Mohamed (1967). The largest male ever discovered in the Philippines was 71 mm CL, while the female was 81 mm CL with a body length of 270 mm or 240 g. (Motoh and Buri, 1980). Adult carapace lengths range between 37 and 71 mm for males and 47 and 81 mm for females. Ecologically, in order to complete their life cycle, penaeid prawns need to go through two main ecosystems: the offshore and the coastal inshore habitats (Rönnbäck et al., 2002).



Figure 6: Diagram of the life history of the giant tiger prawn, P. monodon (Motoh,

1981)

2.4.7 Salinity tolerance:

Previous studies have demonstrated that the salinity tolerance of *Penaeus monodon* (Fabricius 1798) ranged from 1 to 57 ‰, and the most suitable salinity range for growth was from 10 to 35 ‰ (Chen et al., 2020).Salinity especially affects the distribution of shrimp during reproduction cycle (Mosha and Gallardo, 2013).

2.4.8 Longevity:

There is no reliable method developed to determine the age of an individual prawn. Villaluz et al., (1969) believed that the life span of *P. monodon* is one to two years; Motoh (1981) estimated it to be about one and a half years for males and about two years for females.

2.4.9 Feeding behavior

Penaeids are generally considered to be *P. monodon* omnivores, especially prefer crustaceans, plants, polychaetes, molluscs, fish, and insects. This result was confirmed by Thomas (1972) and he clarified that mud and sand found in the gut were unintentionally swallowed. A study recorded that the sugpo fry stage relishes food with plankton (lablab). *P. monodon* food also consisted of crustacea (small crabs and shrimps) and mollusks, which accounted for 85% of the food eaten, according to Marte (1980). Fish, polychaetes, ophiuroids, debris, sand, and silt made up the remaining 15%. This suggests that, instead of a scavenger or detritus feeder, the giant tiger prawn is more of a hunter of slow-moving benthic macro-invertebrates. Kuttyamma (1974) noted that debris composed of mud and organic matter was the main portion of the stomach material, while crustaceans ranked next in number. All these findings indicate that *P. monodon*, particularly in the natural environment, is more of a carnivore with a preference for crustaceans, but it also feeds on other organisms available, including algae.

During the ebb tide (Marte, 1980), *P. monodon* seems to have increased feeding behavior and displays certain food preferences during seasonal food variations (Kuttyamma, 1974). By seizing the food with its pinchers and moving food to the mouth to nibble, this species eats. Four hours after ingestion, undigested food defecated (Marte, 1980). According to Uddin et al. (2020), from November to February, *P. monodon* demonstrated vigorous feeding.

2.4.10 Nutritional Requirement for Shrimp post larvae

For normal growth and development, shrimp larvae require sufficient amounts of proteins, lipids, carbohydrates, minerals, and vitamins. According to Wyk (1999) The recommended protein requirement for shrimps of 0.002 to 0.025 g to 1 g, 1 to 3 g and > 3 g is: 50%, 45%, 40% and 35% of the total protein, respectively. Meanwhile, the 0.002 to 0.25 g, 0.25 to 1 g, 1 to 3 g and > 3 g recommended lipid requirements for shrimp are 15%, 9%, 7.5% and 6.5%, respectively. Shrimp larvae typically need 50-57 % protein, 12-15 % lipid and 20 % carbohydrate (Iba et al., 2014).Microalgae can be considered a good candidate for shrimp aquaculture if they contain a protein above 25% of dry weight, 8-30% carbohydrate and around 10% fat (Nuñez et al., 2002). With *Tetraselmis* sp. when cultured in 30 ppt salinity, it was found to have 55.2% protein, 21.2% lipid and 22.5% carbohydrate (Khatoon et al., 2014). *Chlorella*, meanwhile, was found to have 47.82% protein, 13.32% and 8.08% carbohydrate (Tokuşoglu and Ünal, 2003). According to Kay and Barton (1991), it's about 20% fat, 45% protein, 20% starch, 10% different minerals and vitamins.

CHAPTER-3

METHODOLOGY

CHAPTER-3

METHODOLOGY

This chapter deals with the methods that are followed and materials that are used to achieve the objectives of the study. Methodology is an essential and integral part of any research. In this study, a scientific and logical methodology has been followed. Experiments were conducted in two phases. During the first phase, two selected marine microalgae species were cultured. Dried biomass of selected microalgae was kept in the refrigerator for further use during feed preparation. In the second phase, growth, survival rate and nutritional profile of marine larvae *Penaeus monodon* were studied through feeding with the two algal diets.

3.1 Study area and Collection of microalgae species:

In this study selected microalgae *Tetraselmis chuii*, and *Chlorella vulgaris* were collected from the laboratory of Live Feed Research Corner, Faculty of Fisheries, Chattogram Veterinary and Animal Sciences University, Bangladesh. Using Conway culture medium, the pure *T. chuii*, and *C. vulgaris* stock cultures were maintained at 28 ppt salinity (Khatoon et al., 2018). The subculture of selected microalgae was carried out every two weeks to maintain a pure and stable stock culture. Pure seed stock of all microalgae species were maintained at 28 ppt salinity in Conway medium with a 24 hours photoperiod.

3.2 Seawater collection:

Water was collected from the nearest seabeach (Sagorika seabeach, Kattoli, Chattogram) during the high tide. Collected seawater brought in the laboratory and kept overnight to settle soluble particle in water. Water was then filtered using a Whatman GMF Circles 4.7cm paper by a vacuum pump. Filtered water was autoclaved at 115°C for 15 minutes. Filtered and sterilized water was used to prepare media for microalgae culture.

3.3 Media Preparation

Three stock solutions (macronutrients, trace metal solutions and vitamins) were prepared by dilution of the chemicals in water as shown in Table 1. The Conway medium was prepared by adding Solution A, Solution B and Solution C respectively 1 ml, 0.5 ml and 0.1 ml into 1 L of filtered and sterilized seawater at 28 ppt salinity.
Constituents	Quantities			
Solution A- Macronutrients				
Sodium nitrate (NaNO ₃)	20g			
Ferric chloride (FeCl ₃)	1.3g			
Boric acid (H ₃ BO ₃)	33.4g			
EDTA(b), di-sodium salt	45g			
Manganous chloride (MnCl ₂ , 4H ₂ O)	0.36g			
Sodium di-hydrogen orthophosphate (NaH ₂ PO ₄ , 2H ₂ O)	20g			
Distilled water	1000ml			
Solution B- trace metal				
Zinc chloride (ZnCl ₂)	4.2g			
Cobaltous chloride (CoCl ₂ , 6 H ₂ O)	4.0g			
Ammonium molybdate (NH ₄)6Mo ₇ O ₂₄ , 4H ₂ O	1.8g			
Cupric sulphate (CuSO ₄ , 5H ₂ O)	4.0g			
Distilled water	1000ml			
Acidify with HCl to obtain a clear solution				
Solution-C Vitamins				
Vitamin B1	200mg			
Vitamin B12	10mg			
Distilled water	1000ml			

Table 1: Chemical composition of Conway medium (Tompkins et al., 1995)

3.4 Culture of Microalgae:

Microalgae were cultured at 28 ppt salinity, 23°C, and 1600 lux with 24 hours of photoperiod. Continuous aeration was provided throughout the culture period. The initial cell density was 1 x 10^5 cells ml⁻¹ for each treatment. Growth experiments for each microalgal species were carried out in three replicates until the death phase. During the growth curve experiment, growth parameters in terms of cell density and optical density were measured daily. All experimental cultures for biomass collection were harvested in the stationary phase as determined by the growth experiment previously. *T. chuii* and *C. vulgaris* on Day 8, were harvested by centrifugation using

HERMLE Z 206A High-Speed Refrigerated Centrifuge at 5000 rpm for 5 minutes and washed twice with sterilized distilled water. Samples were then freeze-dried and kept at -20 °C before further analysis.

3.5 Mass Culture of Microalgae:

Mass cultures of selected potential species were done on large scale in a 20 L vessel using Conway medium. From an initial starter culture volume of 20 ml to 100 ml, the culture was eventually enlarged. Initially, 20 ml of microalgae stock cultures were combined as concentrated stock with 30 ml of medium in each flask (total culture volume 50 ml), with batch cultures rising in volume (250ml, 500 ml and 1 L) before being moved to a larger container with a culture medium of 20 L. In their exponential growth process, the culture has been transferred. Once the culture entered its stationary level, all cells were harvested for 5 minutes by centrifugation at 5000 rpm using a continuous tubular centrifuge J-025 (HERMLE Z 206A) and subsequently washed with sterilized distilled water twice. Using a refrigerator, samples were then freeze-dried and held at -20°C until the next procedure. Mass culture was conducted continuously until the feeding experiment produced a sufficient amount of microalgal biomass.

3.6 Feed Formulation for Penaeus monodon Postlarvae

Seven diets were formulated replacing different percentages of microalgae replacement of fish meal inclusion at 0%, 25%, 50% and 75%. The freeze-dried microalgae biomass was ground into fine particles (diameter of 0.4 - 0.5 mm) by using a mortar and pestle and then mixed with the custom-made feed pellet by adding 1% carboxymethylcellulose (CMC) and distilled water to form a concentrated paste. The feed was then freeze-dried using a refrigerator and ground into fine particles. The finished feed was stored at -20°C until use.

3.7 Proximate Analysis of the Formulated Feed

3.7.1 Protein Analysis:

According to Lowry et al. (1951) protein content was analyzed. For each sample, 5-6 mg of freeze-dried microalgae was taken and mixed with distilled water into a 25 ml solution. 25 ml of the prepared sample, 0.5 ml for protein analysis was taken from each sample. Reactive 1 (1% potassium sodium tartarate tartrate) and Reactive 2 (2 g

sodium carbonate per 100 ml of 0.1 N NaOH) were prepared prior to this. By adding 1 ml Reactive 1 to 50 ml Reactive, a mixed reagent was prepared. Then 0.5 ml of the sample with 0.5 ml of 1 N sodium hydroxide was added and held for 5 minutes in a 100 °C water bath. It was then cooled in a water bath and 10 minutes after cooling 2.5 ml of the prepared mixture reagent was added. The mixed solution was applied with 0.5 ml of Folin reagent and kept for 30 minutes in dark places. A spectrophotometer (UV-1601, Shimadzu) at a wavelength of 750 nm was used for the reading of the mixed solution.

3.7.2 Lipid Analysis

On the basis of Marsh and Weinstein (1966), lipid analyses were performed using the sulphuric acid charring process, using tripalmitin as standard after lipid extracting using the Bligh and Dyer (1959) method. The samples were extracted is extracted from the 4.5 ml of methanol: chloroform (2:1 concentration), and centrifuged for 10 minutes at 10, 000 rpm. After the supernatant has been extracted from the bio-mass, the sample has been centrifuged again for the separation of two phases with 1.5 ml of chloroform and 1.5 ml of distilled water. The polar phase was extracted and evaporated with a water bath at 35 °C with the pipette following centrifugation. In 1 ml of chloroform the dry waste was solubilized. This solution was then taken from three aliquots of 200 μ L each and then transferred to test tubes, and the solvent was again evaporated. If fully dried, 2 ml of sulfuric acid concentrate is added. The carbonization process took 15 minutes at 200°C, then the tubes were cooled and 3 ml of water were applied to every tube. The density of the optical density was 375 nm.

3.7.3 Carbohydrate Analysis

Based on the Dubois et al. (1956) process, carbohydrate analysis was carried out (1956). 5-6 mg was taken for each sample and then combined with distilled water to form a 25 ml solution. 5% phenol solution and concentrated sulphuric acid were prepared prior to analysis. By adding 1 ml of 5% phenolic solution and 5 ml of concentrated sulphuric acid, the samples were analyzed. The optical density in a spectrophotometer was measured at 488 nm (Shimadzu UV-1601, Japan).

3.8 Experimental Setup

Twenty-one black 10 L plastic buckets were used in this experiment. The tanks were washed thoroughly and soaked in 20 mg L^{-1} chlorine overnight to prevent any disease transfer through the rearing containers. Then the tanks were rinsed intensively with running tap water until the smell of chlorine was gone and they were placed to dry under the sun. Each tank was filled with 5 L of filtered dechlorinated seawater at 26 ppt prior to stocking. Tanks were not arranged randomly as the feeding trials were carried out in a closed hatchery with a uniformly distributed fluorescent light. P. monodon postlarvae at the stage of PL 2 were obtained from a commercial hatchery and remained in the laboratory for 2days conditioning. PL 5 was stocked at a density of 50 PL L⁻¹ according to the study done by Khatoon et al. (2007). Every tank was given constant aeration and the hatchery tanks were maintained under a 12 h light: 12 h dark cycle. The shrimp were fed at 6:00 am, 12:00 pm, 6:00 pm, 12:00 am, four times a day. The shrimp PLs were fed with the formulated feed mixed with different algae at 0%, 25%, 50% and 75%. All treatment was administered in triplicates and for a total of 17 days the experiment was conducted. In order to maintain water quality, fecal matter and the remainder of the uneaten feed were siphoned out daily at less than 10% of culture volume. The survived shrimp from each tank were counted at the end of the feeding trials and weighed to estimate mean survival for the treatment and control groups.

3.9 Physical Analysis

Using pH meter (Hanna instrument), portable Refractometer and Dissolved Oxygen Meter (DO-5509), temperature, pH, salinity and dissolved oxygen in culture tanks were measured daily respectively.

3.10 Chemical Analysis

On alternate days, total ammonia nitrogen, nitrite, and phosphate phosphorous were calculated according to the Parsons et al. (1984). An alternate day, 30 ml of water sample was obtained from each tank and filtered using a 4.7cm Whatman GMF Circles before analysis.

3.10.1 Total ammonium nitrogen (TAN)

There were five ml of water samples placed in a test tube. 0.4 ml of phenol solution (20 g of analytical grade phenol dissolved in 200 ml of 95% v/v ethyl alcohol) and 0.4 ml of sodium nitroprusside were applied to the sample (1 g of sodium nitroprusside dissolved in 200 ml of MiliQH₂O). To begin the reaction, 1 ml of oxidizing solution was then added. By mixing 100 ml of alkaline reagents (100 g of sodium citrate and 5 g of sodium hydroxide dissolved in 500 ml of MiliQH₂O) and 25 ml of sodium hypochlorite solution, the oxidizing solution was prepared. The tubes were coated with parafilm and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature (20 - 27°C) before being measured with a Shimadzu spectrophotometer at 640 nm (Shimadzu UV-1601, Japan)

3.10.2 Nitrite (NO₂-N)

In a test tube containing 10 ml of a water sample, sulfanilamide solution (0.2 ml) was applied. By dissolving 5 g of sulfanilamide in a mixture of 50 ml of concentrated hydrochloric acid, the sulfanilamide solution was prepared and diluted with MiliQH₂O to 500 ml. Then, after 8 minutes, 1 ml of NED reagent (0.5 g of dissolved N-(1-naphthyl)-ethylene diamine dihydrochloride in 500 ml of MiliQH₂O) was applied to the tube and immediately mixed. The Shimadzu spectrophotometer measured the extinction at 543 nm one hour later (Shimadzu UV-1601, Japan).

3.10.3 Determination of Phosphate phosphorus (PO₄-P)

One ml of mixed reagent was added to the test tube containing 10 ml of a water sample. A mixed reagent was prepared by mixing 100 ml of 0.02 M ammonium molybdate, 250 ml sulfuric acid, 100 ml of 0.31 M ascorbic acid and 100 ml of 0.002 M potassium antimonyl-tartrate. After 5 min and preferably within the first 2-3 hours, by using Shimadzu spectrophotometer (Shimadzu UV-1601, Japan) extinction was measured at 885 nm.

3.11 Survival and Growth Analysis of Shrimp Postlarvae:

The specific growth rate (SGR) was calculated from the bodyweight based on the formula of Ricker (1990): SGR = (ln wf -ln wi/ Δt) x100where: ln wf is the natural logarithm of the weight at time (t) and ln wi is the natural logarithm of the initial weight of the shrimp postlarvae. The weight of the postlarvae was taken on the initial

day (PL5) and when the postlarvae reached the PL17 stage. Shrimp PLs survival was determined at the end of the experiment.

RESULTS

RESULTS

The results section presents the finding of a study in a systematic, logical, concise and comprehensive manner. This section contains detailed information about on the present research work.

4.1 Proximate composition of different microalgae:

The total protein, lipid, and carbohydrate content of microalgae on dry weight basis is illustrated in Figure 7. The content of proteins, lipids, and carbohydrates for *Chlorella* sp. Was ($43 \pm 2.9\%$), ($12 \pm 0.3\%$), ($23 \pm 1.6\%$), respectively. In *Tetraselmis* sp., the highest content of protein ($57 \pm 0.7\%$) was found. The lipid and carbohydrate content were ($19 \pm 1.3\%$) and ($17 \pm 0.9\%$) respectively.



Figure 7: Proximate composition of dried algae (a) *Chlorella* sp. (b) *Tetraselmis chuii* used to replace fish meal in diets of *Penaeus monodon* PLs

4.2 Proximate Composition of the Formulated Feed

For each prepared formulated feed, Table 2 shows the total protein, lipid, and carbohydrate content. With a total of $40 \pm 0.5\%$, the highest protein content was contained in commercial feed (CF), which is significantly higher in comparison to other treatments. In this analysis, as the addition of *T.chuii* increases, the total protein content decreases. The concentration of *C. vulgaris* in the prepared formulated feed is

followed by T25 (39.8 \pm 0.17%), CH25 (39.6 \pm 0.06%), T50 (39.4 \pm 0.09%), CH50 (38.9 \pm 0.23%), T75 (39.4 \pm 0.09%) and CH75 (38.4 \pm 0.17%) respectively.

	Total Protein	Total Lipid	Total Carbohydrate	
	(% dw)	(%dw)	(%dw)	
Formulated Feed				
CF	40.0 ± 0.29	12.66 ± 0.34	19.33 ± 0.23	
T25	39.8 ± 0.17	10.81 ± 0.23	23.12 ± 0.28	
Т50	39.5 ± 0.28	10.73 ± 0.08	25.47 ± 0.39	
T75	39.4 ± 0.09	10.90 ± 0.06	25.91 ± 0.22	
CH25	39.6 ± 0.06	11.87 ± 0.21	24.66 ± 0.61	
CH50	38.9 ± 0.23	11.90 ± 0.18	27.13 ± 0.24	
CH75	38.4 ± 0.17	10.87 ± 0.19	26.42 ± 0.29	

Table 2: Proximate Composition of the Formulated Feed

4.3 Proximate composition of Shrimp postlarvae:

Figure 8 illustrates the total protein, lipid, and carbohydrate content for each shrimp post larvae treated with formulated feed and replacement of microalgae in different percentage. In this research, the highest total protein content ($39.0 \pm 0.6\%$) was found in CH25 followed by T25 ($34 \pm 0.7\%$), T75 ($34 \pm 0.2\%$), CH75 ($32 \pm 0.4\%$), CF ($30 \pm$ (0.7%) and CH50 ($(29\pm 0.8\%)$) respectively. The highest protein content was found in postlarvae of CH25 treated tank with a total of $39 \pm 0.6\%$, which is significantly higher compared to other treatment. Figure 8 also illustrates the total lipid content for each of the formulated feed prepared. In this research, the highest total lipid content $(18.0 \pm 0.2\%)$ was found in T25 treated shrimp postlarvae followed by CH25 (14 ± 0.3%), T50 (13 \pm 0.7%), CH75 (12 \pm 0.6%), CH50 (10 \pm 0.2%) and CF (8 \pm 0.1%) respectively. However, the total lipid content of T25 did not differ significantly (p>0.05) with T50, T75, and T75. Table 4 also illustrate the total carbohydrate content for each of the formulated feed prepared. In this feeding trial experiment, the highest total carbohydrate content $(13.0 \pm 0.5 \%)$ was found in T25 treated shrimp postlarvae followed by CH25 ($12 \pm 0.6\%$), CH50 ($12 \pm 0.5\%$), T50 ($11 \pm 0.6\%$), CH75 (11 ± 0.7 %),T75 (10 \pm 0.2%) and CF (7 \pm 0.2%) respectively. However, the total lipid content of T25 did not differ significantly (p>0.05) with T50, T75, and T75.



Figure 8: Proximate composition of *Penaeus monodon* fed with two different algae (a) *Tetraselmis chuii* (b) *Chlorella* sp. with the replacement of fish meal (25%, 50% and 75%) over the 17 days of period.

4.4 Water Quality in Shrimp Culture Tanks

4.4.1 Physical Analyses of Water Quality

There was no significant difference amongst all treatments with respect to the physical parameters (temperature, salinity, light and pH) of the water (Table 3) during the whole experimental period.

Parameter								
	Treatment	Temperature (°C)	$DO (mgL^{-1})$	pH	Salinity (ppt)			
	CF	26.8 ± 0.08	5.8 ± 0.09	8.2 ± 0.05	26.4 ± 0.15			
	T25	26.5 ± 0.11	5.9 ± 0.05	8.2 ± 0.03	26.5 ± 0.13			
	T50	26.1 ± 0.13	5.9 ± 0.05	8.2 ± 0.03	26.2 ± 0.09			
	T75	26.3 ± 0.13	5.7 ± 0.07	8.1 ± 0.04	26.4 ± 0.11			
	CH25	26.5 ± 0.09	5.9 ± 0.05	8.2 ± 0.04	26.4 ± 0.14			
	CH50	26.4 ± 0.15	5.8 ± 0.10	8.1 ± 0.03	26.3 ± 0.10			
	CH75	26.7 ± 0.06	5.9 ± 0.08	8.2 ± 0.02	26.5 ± 0.11			

Table 3: Temperature (°C), dissolved oxygen (mgL⁻¹), pH range and salinity (ppt) range in control and treated tanks

4.4.2 Chemical Analyses of Water Quality

Figure 9(a) shows the total ammonia nitrogen (TAN) of the water sample from *P.monodon* postlarvae (PLs) tanks fed with different experimental diets. There was a significant increase (p<0.05) in the TAN of the control tank (CF) on Day2 (0.355 \pm 0.05 mg L⁻¹) and the value continue to increase until the end of the experiment on Day17 (0.99 \pm 0.01mg L⁻¹). On the other hand, the TAN of the water sample from the tank fed with the addition of different *T. chuii* percentage showed a significantly lower (p<0.05) TAN and a significant decrease (p<0.05) in the TAN towards the end of the experiment compared to control (CF). Although T25 showed a significantly lower (p<0.05) TAN compared to other treatments, both T50 and T75 also manage to maintain a low TAN throughout the experiment compared to control (Figure 9a).

Based on Figure 9(b), the NO₂-N of water sample from the tank fed with the addition of different *T. chuii* percentage showed a significantly lower (p<0.05) NO₂-N throughout the experiment and the NO₂-N was maintained at a relatively low level until Day17. On the other hand, control (CF) treatment showed significantly higher NO₂-N on day 14 (0.99± 0.05mg L⁻¹) compared to other treatment and the NO₂-N value increased significantly (p<0.05) existed in the NO₂-N between T75 (0.294 ± 0.05mg L⁻¹) and T50 (0.364 ± 0.05mg L⁻¹) (Figure 9b).

Figure 9(c) showed phosphate phosphorus (PO₄-P) (mg L⁻¹) of water sample from the tank fed with the addition of different *T. chuii* percentages. The PO₄-P of CF significantly raised (p<0.05) with the increase of the culture period. All treatments

with *T. chuii* addition showed an increase in the PO₄-P content of T75, CF and T25 from the initial day up to Day 4. However, on Day8, the PO₄-P T75 increased from $0.11 \pm 0.00 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$ to $0.197 \pm 0.01 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$ on Day10 and gradually decreased. Although T25 showed a significantly lower (p<0.05) TAN compared to other treatments (Figure 9c).







Figure 9: Total ammonia nitrogen (mgL⁻¹), NO₂-N concentration (mgL⁻¹) and PO₄-P concentration (mgL⁻¹) of all treatments at entire culture period fed with *Tetraselmis chuii* as experimental diet.

Based on Figure 10(a), the TAN of the water sample from the tank fed with the addition of different percentage *C.vulgaris* showed a significantly lower (p<0.05) TAN. A significant decrease (p<0.05) in the TAN towards the end of the experiment compared to control (CF) was observed. The TAN of CH25, CH50 and CH75 did not differ significantly (p>0.05) throughout the experiment and the NO₂-N was maintained at a relatively low level until Day17. On the other hand, control (CF) showed significantly higher TAN compared to other treatments and the TAN value increased significantly (p<0.05) until Day17 compared to treatments with different percentages of *C.vulgaris* addition (Figure 10a).

Based on Figure 10(b) the NO₂-N of water sample from the tank fed with the addition of different *C.vulgaris* percentage showed a significantly lower (p<0.05) NO₂-N. A significant decrease (p<0.05) in the NO₂-N towards the end of the experiment compared to control (CF) diet was observed. The NO₂-N of CH25, CH50 and CH75 did not differ significantly throughout the experiment and the NO₂-N was maintained at a relatively low level until Day17. On the other hand, control (CF) diet showed significantly higher NO₂-N compared to other treatment and the NO₂-N value increased significantly until Day14 compared to other treatments of *C.vulgaris* inclusion. However, by Day12, no significant difference (p>0.05) existed in the NO2-N among CH25 ($0.2559 \pm 0.0 \text{ mgL}$ -1), CH75 ($0.2581 \pm 0.0 \text{ mgL}$ ⁻¹) and T50 ($0.2594 \pm 0.0 \text{ mgL}$ ⁻¹) (Figure 10b).

Figure 10(c) showed phosphate phosphorus (PO₄-P) (mgL⁻¹) of water sample from the tank fed with the different *C.vulgaris* concentration. The PO₄-P of CF significantly increased (p<0.05) with the rise of the culture period. An increase in the PO₄-P content was noticed in CH75, CF and CH25 treatments from the initial day up to Day 6. However, on Day10, the PO₄-P of CH50 increased from 0.105 \pm 0.01 mg L-1 on Day8 to 0.187 \pm 0.01 mgL⁻¹ on Day10. On Day14, water in the tank of PLs fed with CF (0.219 \pm 0.01mgL⁻¹) showed the highest PO₄-P value compared to other treatment throughout the experiment, followed by CH75 (0.184 \pm 0.00mgL⁻¹), CH25 (0.125 \pm 0.01mgL⁻¹) and CH50 (0.204 \pm 0.00mgL⁻¹) respectively (Figure 10c).







Figure 10: Total ammonia nitrogen (mgL⁻¹), NO₂-N concentration (mg L⁻¹) and PO₄-P concentration (mg L⁻¹) of all treatments during the entire culture period fed with *Chlorella vulgaris* as experimental diet.

4.5 Shrimp Survival and Specific Growth Rate

Figure 11(b) represented the survival rate of PLs fed with different types of formulated feed containing varying percentages of *T. chuii*. The highest survival of shrimp was achieved in tanks of PLs fed with T25 (64.44 \pm 1.91%), CF (52.85 \pm 2.37%) and followed by T50 (53.22 \pm 2.91%). Shrimp PLs cultured in tanks fed with 25% replacement of *T. chuii* (T25) showed significantly (p<0.05) higher survival compared



to CF. However, no significant difference (p>0.05) in SGR was observed between all treatments.

Figure 11: (a) SGR (Day⁻¹) % and (b) Survival rate of *P. monodon* in all treatments after fed with *T. chuii*.

Figure 12 shows the survival rate of PLs fed with four types formulated feed containing different percentages of *C. vulgaris*. The highest survival of shrimp was achieved in tanks of PLs fed with CH25 ($62.38 \pm 1.91\%$), CH50 ($55.07 \pm 2.37\%$) and followed by CF ($52.85 \pm 2.91\%$), respectively. Shrimp PLs cultured in tanks fed with inclusion of *C. Vulgaris* CH25 and CH50 showed significantly (p<0.05) higher

survival compared to CF. However, no significant difference in SGR was observed between all treatments.



Figure 12: (a) Survival rate and (b) SGR (Day⁻¹) % of *P. monodon* in all treatments after fed with *Chlorella* sp.

DISCUSSION

DISCUSSION

Microalgae play a crucial nutritional role to marine species both in aquaculture and natural condition. Microalgae are utilized as live feed during all the developmental stages of bivalve molluscs (e.g., oysters, scallops, clams and mussels), from larval/early juvenile stages of molluscs, crustaceans and some fish species, and for zooplankton used in hatchery and commercial aquaculture. Microalgae act as the primary producer for the entire aquatic food chain which makes it a very important nutrient source in aquaculture, especially during the culture of shrimp, fish and molluscs (Muller-Feuga, 2000). Researchers suggested different cost-effective protein sources for the preparation of feed to achieve optimum growth of fish (Tacon & Metian, 2008). Microalgae species are used in this study due to their importance as feed for both larval and growth stages of bivalves, shrimp and certain fish species in aquaculture (Guedes and Malcata, 2012). The present study has shown that between the two species studied, T. chuii and C.vulgaris showed better growth performance, nutritional profile and survival rate compared to controlled feed. In this study, PL of *Peneaus monodon* was fed with different formulated feed with a replacement of 25%, 50% and 75% of fish meal with two indigenous marine microalgae species, Tetraselmis chuii and Chlorella vulgaris as sources of protein.

5.1 Proximate Composition of Microalgae and Formulated Feed

During this study, all microalgae biomass was harvested at the stationary. *T. chuii* was harvested on Day 7. On the other hand, *C. vulgaris* was harvested during the stationary phase on Day 9. Six different formulated feeds for the PLs with the inclusion of *T. chuii* and *Chlorella* sp. at 25% (T25), 50% (T50), 75% (T75) and 25% (CH25), 50% (CH50), 75% (CH75) respectively were prepared as treatment feed. Custom made feed containing all the rest ingredients except algae was used as a control. *T. chuii* and *C. vulgaris* were selected in this study as the microalgae, for the PLs have been shown to contain a sufficient level of protein, lipid and carbohydrate for growth and survival of commercial species. According to Loya-Javellana (1989), *Tetraselmis* is considered as a vital component. In this study, higher protein (57%), lipid (19%) found in *Tetraselmis* sp. which similar to the result of Miller and Brown

(1992). Unicellular algae, *Chlorella* sp. used in commercial hatcheries as rotifer feed and help to maintain good water quality (Juario and Storch, 1984). Increased feed costs can result from higher reliance on artificial feeding if shrimps are cultivated intensively. In the present study, the protein content of custom-made feed was found to be higher than the treatment feeds with *T. chuii* and *Chlorella* sp. inclusion. The protein content of the treatment feed is, however, still within the range recommended for shrimp growth and survival. According to Biedenbach et al. (1989), higher dietary protein is required for postlarvaes during the nursery phase than the later stages.

The total lipid content of the formulated feed composed with *T. chuii* (10.73% - 10.90%) and *Chlorella* sp. (11.87% - 12.56%) inclusions were also within the recommended for shrimp. Higher lipid levels have been identified in post larvae-fed *Chlorella* diets. Similar results were also reported when various species of microalgae were included in *P. monodon* larvae diets (D'Souza et al., 2000). A study showed 40 to 50 percent protein with 20 percent carbohydrate and (5 - 10)% lipid gave *Penaeus monodon* juvenile the best growth and survival (Bautista, 1986). According to Sick and Andrews (1973), an improvement in the growth of *Penaeus duorarum* fed with a diet contained 10% lipid.

In addition, the total content of the carbohydrate in feed formulated with inclusion of *T. chuii* and *Chlorella* sp. was also shown to be within the range of recommendations of Bautista (1986). The results of this study were consistent with the findings of Piña et al. (2006), which showed that *Tetraselmis* sp. was richer in carbohydrates (24.8%). Carbohydrate was found to be 23 percent in the case of *Chlorella* sp. The addition of *T. chuii* and *Chlorella* sp. into PL feed could therefore provide a sufficient amount of protein and lipid as well as the required carbohydrate as well as an antioxidant source for PLs.

5.2 Proximate Composition of Shrimp Postlarvae

T. chuii and *Chlorella* sp. were selected in the study as the microalgae, for the shrimp postlarvae has been shown to contain a sufficient level of protein, lipid and carbohydrate for growth and survival of aquaculture organisms. From the result it was found that, PL of *Penaeus monodon* which was fed with *Chlorella vulgaris* in 25% replacement of fish meal had greater protein content than all other treatments. Also, highest protein (34%) and lipid (18%) level was found in larvae fed with *Tetraselmis*

sp. 25% replacement of fish meal that is strongly correlate with the result of Jamali et al. (2015) where diet supplemented with Tetraselmis sp. resulted in highest protein content in Litopenaeus vannamei. In case of Chlorella vulgaris, PL also showed higher protein content where fish meal was replaced at 50% by Chlorella sp. than the control that is almost similar with the result of Maliwat et al. (2017) who showed that *Chlorella* sp. are able to influence high growth and protein content in giant freshwater prawn Macrobrachium rosenbergii. In the present study, a slight reduction in protein levels was observed in Penaeus monodon postlarvae as Chlorella inclusion was increased. Similarly, slightly lower protein levels were reported in white-leg shrimp (Litopenaeus vannamei Boone) as higher inclusions of the marine algae Tetraselmis were incorporated into their diet (Kiron et al., 2012). Lowered protein content was also reported in juvenile P. monodon when Chlorella and other species of microalgae were incorporated into prawn diets (Sivakumar et al., 2011). Also, in the study, postlarvae-fed *Chlorella* diets were observed to contain higher lipid. Similar findings were also reported when different species of microalgae were incorporated in diets of P. monodon larvae (D'Souza and Loneragan, 1999).

5.3 Water Quality of the Culture Tanks

Microalgae have a high capacity for extracting inorganic nutrients from waste water, according to Samori et al. (2013). The principal method for extracting algal nutrients from wastewater is their assimilation into cell biomass (Bich et al., 1999). The key benefits of using microalgae as a fertilizer are that the assimilated nitrogen and phosphorus can be recycled as an algal biomass. Ammonia is the main nitrogen waste product excreted by aquatic organisms from microbial activities and released by nitrogen-containing organic matter from the decomposition, or converted into nitrite, and nitrate in the water column. Ammonia is the most common waste products in water. Aerobic chemoautotrophic bacteria oxidize nitrate and nitrate in waters by nitrification processes. Nitrite, an aquatic animal toxic material, usually exits in waters at low levels, as it is normally converted into nitrate in the aerobic environment, the least toxic nitrogen compound for aquatic animals. When the ammonia oxidation rate exceeds the rate of nitrite oxidation and the denitrification phase of heterotrophic bacteria under anaerobic conditions, nitrite accumulates in water (Boyd and Tucker, 1998). Increased levels of TAN and NO₂-N with culture time are significant factors that affect the health, survival, and growth of shrimp post

larvae in a shrimp hatchery, according to Chin and Chen (1987). On the 17th and 14th days of the experiment, total ammonia nitrogen, nitrite, soluble reactive phosphorus was found to be the maximum in the control treatment. In water samples from the tank of PLs supplemented with T. chuii and Chlorella sp., significantly lower TAN, NO₂-N and PO₄-P were found compared to control treatment. This outcome was in accordance with Guedes and Malcata (2012), who presented that microalgae can stabilize a culture's water quality and boost it. This is possibly due to the "green water" found in PL tanks fed with the inclusion of microalgae that may be triggered during culture by the leftover feed. According to Chuntapa et al. (2003), it has been shown that the application of phytoplankton (green-water technique) to large varieties of aquaculture species produces better growth and survival, compared to clear water culture. Besides the maintenance of lower TAN, NO₂-N and PO₄-P throughout the culture, the culture medium of PLs fed with T25, T50 and T75 also showed a decrease in the TAN, NO₂-N and PO₄-P towards the end of culture. This result was in accordance with Chen et al. (2012) who found that compared to the other three species studied, T. chuii exhibited the highest TAN uptake that led to lower nutrients towards the end of culture. Minimal water exchange can be considered on PLs fed with T chuii inclusion, according to Thompson et al. (2002) and this is advantageous due to the expense and labor normally needed to maintain a good water quality for regular water exchange in aquaculture. In the case of *Chlorella* treated tanks PLs fed with CH25, CH50 and CH75, NO₂-N and PO₄-P increased gradually in lower amounts from 4th days of the experiment but the TAN didn't increase. This findings was in accordance with Mujtaba et al. (2015) who reported that The highest TAN uptake was shown by *Chlorella vulgaris*, which contributed to lower nutrients at the end of culture relative to NO₂-N and PO₄-P.

5.4 Specific Growth and Survival Rate of Penaeus monodon Postlarvae

In the feeding experiments with the *Penaeus monodon* postlarvae, after 17 days of the culture period, 25% inclusion of *T. chuii* into the diet showed a significantly higher survival (64.4 percent) compared to PLs fed with custom made feed (control). In the case of the inclusion of *Chlorella* sp. in the diet, 25 percent substitution also demonstrated significantly higher survival. This finding is almost similar Tejera et al. (2007) who showed no significant difference in growth and survival after 4 months of feeding experiment from multiple sources of astaxanthin. *Penaeus monodon*

(Fabricus), a juvenile shrimp species, was found to show increased growth when fed with Chlorella as live feed Kong et al. (2011). As compared to shrimp fed commercial shrimp meal, higher growth rates were also seen in Indian white shrimp (Fenneropenaeus indicus) fed Chlorella as live feed which also similar to the result of Pakravan et al. (2018), fish meal substitution by Chlorella vulgaris meal in the diet of Pacific white shrimp improved growth performance. In addition, in brine shrimp Artemia fed Chlorella-containing diets, the same growth increase was evident in (Kayim, Ates and Elekon 2010). Growth promoters, such as adequate quantities of macronutrients and naturally occurring bioactive ingredients found in C. vulgaris, can be linked to comparable growth success in postlarvae fed Chlorella diets and fishmeal-based diets Yamaguchi (1996). Up to now, no research has reported any negative effects on growth efficiency of introducing Chlorella at high levels in other crustaceans' diets. In the present analysis, the highest specific growth rate was shown by the PLs supplied with 25 percent fish meal replacement by T. chuii. The highest specific growth rate in the case of Chlorella sp. was found in 25% replacement of fish meal by *Chlorella*, which is almost identical to the outcome of Kong et al. (2002); Maliwat et al. (2017) who showed that when P. monodon was fed with different levels of Chlorella sp., their growth output improved with the increase in algae percentage in fish diets compared to control diets. The reliable growth success in all treatments demonstrated that the post larvae of shrimp can readily accept and use Chlorella.

CONCLUSIONS

CONCLUSIONS

Microalgae contain adequate number of various types of nutrient which improve the growth performance, survival rate and give the ability to survive against bacterial infestation. The results of this study showed that dietary replacement of fish meal with microalgae had beneficial effects on the survival and growth efficiency of *P. monodon* PL at 25% *Tetraselmis* sp. and *Chlorella* sp. levels. In addition, supplementation of *Tetraselmis* sp. and *Chlorella* sp. also provides the PLs with sufficient nutrients and increases the quality of water throughout the culture. The findings of this study make use of the species of microalgae as a substitute for fish meal that can be used and has a potential role to play in increasing growth and survival. This knowledge would be useful for feed producers to realize that the aforementioned microalgae can be used as a cost-effective feed for 25% replacement of fishmeal aquaculture species. This result showed that the marine microalgae *Tetraselmis chuii* and *Chlorella* sp. protein from plant sources would minimize reliance on fish meal protein.

RECOMMENDATIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

RECOMMENDATIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The aim of this study was to observe the effects of inclusion of selected dried microalgae on growth rate, survival, and nutritional profile in *Penaeus monodon*. This study will be helpful for the feed preparation for aquatic organisms where microalgae can be used as an alternative feedstuff for fish meal which will compensate the cost of feed. Although the experiment was followed to explore the objective of the research, there are some limitations of the study which can be minimized by following the recommendations:

- ✓ Algal culture should be done by collecting clean seawater which will reduce the cost of filtration as filter paper and vacuum pump are costly and time consuming.
- ✓ The algae should be extracted in stationary phase of algae so that nutritional value of algae can remain the same.
- ✓ There is need for a better approach to mass production of the microalgae species.
- ✓ It should be possible to extract algal biomass in less time by using large centrifugal machine or develop a method to extract algal biomass in large amount with minimum time.
- ✓ It should be carefully drying algae in hot air oven will prevent algae from burning.
- ✓ There should be a separate lab for algae cultivation so that there is no possibility to cross contamination.
- ✓ The rate of growth can be seen in the future by feeding algae in different stages of shrimp.
- ✓ Future studies should also be done on the effect of the microalgae combination of *Tetraselmis chuii* and *Chlorella* sp. in different percentages.
- ✓ There is an opportunity to establish the effects of shrimp growth fed with other algae by following this method.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- Ahmed N, Demaine H and Muir JF. 2008. Freshwater prawn farming in Bangladesh: History, present status and future prospects. Aquaculture Research. 39(8): 806– 819.
- Altuve DE, Marcano LA, Alió JJ and Blanco-Rambla JP. 2008. Presencia del camarón tigre *Penaeus monodon* (Fabricius, 1798) en la costa del delta del río Orinoco y golfo de Paria, Venezuela. Memoria de la Fundación La Salle de Ciencias Naturales. 68(169): 83-92.
- Alvarez JS, Hernández-Llamas A, Galindo J, Fraga I, García T and Villarreal H. 2007. Substitution of fishmeal with soybean meal in practical diets for juvenile white shrimp *Litopenaeus schmitti* (Pérez-Farfante and Kensley 1997). Aquaculture Research. 38(7): 689–695.
- Amaya EA, Davis DA and Rouse DB. 2007. Replacement of fish meal in practical diets for the Pacific white shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*) reared under pond conditions. 262: 393–401.
- Anand PSS, Kohli MPS, Kumar S, Sundaray JK, Roy SD, Venkateshwarlu G, Sinha A and Pailan GH. 2014. Effect of dietary supplementation of biofloc on growth performance and digestive enzyme activities in *Penaeus monodon*. Aquaculture. 418–419: 108–115.
- Anand PSS, Kohli MPS, Roy SD, Sundaray JK, Kumar S, Sinha A and Pailan GH. 2013. Effect of dietary supplementation of periphyton on growth performance and digestive enzyme activities in *Penaeus monodon*. Aquaculture. 392–395: 59–68.
- Ayisi CL, Hua X, Apraku A, Afriyie G and Kyei BA. 2017. Recent Studies Toward the Development of Practical Diets for Shrimp and Their Nutritional Requirements. HAYATI Journal of Biosciences. 24(3): 109–117.
- Bautista MN. 1986. The response of *Penaeus monodon* juveniles to varying protein/energy ratios in test diets. Aquaculture. 53(3–4): 229–242.
- Bender J, Lee R, Sheppard M, Brinkley K, Phillips P, Yeboah Y and Chee R. (2004). A waste effluent treatment system based on microbial mats for black sea bass

Centropristis striata recycled-water mariculture. 31: 73–82.

- Bich NN, Yaziz MI and Bakti NAK. 1999. Combination of *Chlorella vulgaris* and eichhornia crassipes for wastewater nitrogen removal. Wat. Res. 33(10): 2357–2362.
- Biedenbach JM, Smith LL, Thomsen TK and Lawrence AL. 1989. Use of the Nematode *Panagrellus redivivus* as an Artemia Replacement in a Larval Penaeid Diet. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society. 20(2): 61–71.
- Bligh EG and Dyer WJ. 1959. A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. Canadian Journal of Biochemistry and Physiology. 37(8): 911–917.
- Bock C, Krienitz L and Pröschold T. 2011. Taxonomic reassessment of the genus *Chlorella* (Trebouxiophyceae) using molecular signatures (barcodes), including description of seven new species. Fottea. 11(2): 293–312.
- Boonyaratpalin, M. 2001. Effects of β-carotene source, *Dunaliella salina*, and astaxanthin on pigmentation, growth, survival and health of *Penaeus monodon*. Aquaculture Research. 32(1): 182–190.
- Borowitzka MA. 2018. Biology of microalgae. In Microalgae in Health and Disease Prevention 1998.
- Browdy CL, Bratvold D, Stokes AD and McIntosh RP. 2001. Perspectives on the application of closed shrimp culture systems. Journal of Aquaculture Research.
- Brune DE, Lundquist TJ and Benemann JR. 2009. Microalgal Biomass for Greenhouse Gas Reductions: Journal of Environmental Engineering. 135(11): 1136–1145.
- Cashion T, Le Manach F, Zeller D and Pauly D. 2017. Most fish destined for fishmeal production are food-grade fish. Fish and Fisheries. 18(5): 837–844.
- Catarina A and Xavier F. 2012. Nutritional Value and Uses of Microalgae in Aquaculture. Aquaculture. 10(1516), 59-78.
- Cavallo RA, Acquaviva MI, Stabili L, Cecere E, Petrocelli A and Narracci M. 2013. Antibacterial activity of marine macroalgae against fish pathogenic *Vibrio* species. Central European Journal of Biology. 8(7): 646–653.

Cintra IHA, de Sá Paiva K, do Nascimento Botelho M and de Araújo Silva KC. 2011.

Presence of *Penaeus monodon* in the continental shelf of the State of Para, Northern Brazil (Crustacea, Decapoda, Penaeidae). Revista de Ciências Agrárias Amazonian Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences. 54(3): 314-317.

- Chakraborti RK, Haldar DD, Das NK, Mandal SK and Bhowmik ML. 1986. Penaeus monodon Fabricus under differenct environmental conditions. Fisheries Research. 51(3-4): 189–194.
- Chen and Chen F. 2006. Growing phototrophic cells without light. Biotechnology Letters. 28(9): 607–616.
- Chen, Leu YT and Roelants I. 1992. Quantification of arginine requirements of juvenile marine shrimp, *Penaeus monodon*, using microencapsulated arginine. Marine Biology. 114(2): 229–233.
- Chen SY, Pan LY, Hong MJ and Lee AC. 2012. The effects of temperature on the growth of and ammonia uptake by marine microalgae. Botanical Studies. 53(1): 125–133.
- Chen Y, Wang C and Xu C. 2020. Nutritional evaluation of two marine microalgae as feedstock for aquafeed. Aquaculture Research. 51(3): 946–956.
- Christaki E, Bonos E, Giannenasa I and Florou-Paneria P. 2012. Functional properties of carotenoids originating from algae. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture. 93(1): 5–11.
- Chuntapa B, Powtongsook S and Menasveta P. 2003. Water quality control using *Spirulina platensis* in shrimp culture tanks. Aquaculture. 220(1–4): 355–366.
- Cicala F, Lago-Lestón A, Gomez-Gil B, Gollas-Galván T, Chong-Robles J, Cortés-Jacinto E and Martínez-Porchas, M. 2020. Gut microbiota shifts in the giant tiger shrimp, *Penaeus monodon*, during the postlarvae, juvenile, and adult stages. Aquaculture International. 28(4): 1421–1433.
- Conceição LEC, Yúfera M, Makridis P, Morais S and Dinis MT. 2010. Live feeds for early stages of fish rearing. Aquaculture Research. 41(5): 613–640.
- D'Souza FML, Lecossois D, Heasman MP, Diemar JA, Jackson CJ and Pendrey RC.
 2000. Evaluation of centrifuged microalgae concentrates as diets for *Penaeus* monodon Fabricius larvae. Aquaculture Research. 31(8–9): 661–670.

- Dallaire V, Lessard P, Vandenberg G and Noüe JD. 2007. Effect of algal incorporation on growth, survival and carcass composition of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) fry. Bioresource technology. 98(7): 1433–1439.
- DoF. 2020. Yearbook of fisheries statistics of Department of Fisheries Bangladesh. Fisheries Resources Survey System (FRSS), Department of Fisheries. Bangladesh: Ministry of Fisheries. 36: 139.
- Dubois M, Gulles KA, Hamilton JK, Rebers PA and Smith F. 1956. Colorimetric method for determination of sugars and related substances. Analytical Chemistry. 28: 350–356.
- Fabregas J, García D, Fernandez-Alonso M, Rocha AI, Gómez-Puertas P, Escribano JM, Otero A and Coll JM. 1999. In vitro inhibition of the replication of haemorrhagic septicaemia virus (VHSV) and African swine fever virus (ASFV) by extracts from marine microalgae. Antiviral Research. 44(1): 67–73.
- FAO. 2020. FAO Yearbook. Fishery and Aquaculture Statistics 2018/FAO annuaire. Statistiques des pêches et de l'aquaculture 2018/FAO anuario. Estadísticas de pesca y acuicultura 2018. In FAO Yearbook. Fishery and Aquaculture Statistics 2018/FAO annuaire. Statistiques des pêches et de l'aquaculture 2018/FAO anuario. Estadísticas de pesca y acuicultura.
- Feng T, Paterson B and Johnston S. 2018. A morphological study of the male reproductive tract, posttesticular acrosome maturation and spermatophore formation in the black tiger prawn (*Penaeus monodon*). Journal of morphology. 279(9): 1290-1300.
- Fon-Sing S and Borowitzka MA. 2016. Isolation and screening of euryhaline *Tetraselmis* spp. suitable for large-scale outdoor culture in hypersaline media for biofuels. Journal of Applied Phycology. 28(1): 1–14.
- Fujii K, Nakashima H, Hashidzume Y, Uchiyama T, Mishiro K and Kadota Y. 2010. Potential use of the astaxanthin-producing microalga, *Monoraphidium* sp. GK12, as a functional aquafeed for prawns. Journal of Applied Phycology. 22(3): 363– 369.

Gómez-Lemos LA, and Hernando Campos N. 2008. Presence of Penaeus monodon

Fabricius (Crustacea: Decapoda: Penaeidae) in waters off the Colombian Guajira. Boletín de Investigaciones Marinas y Costeras-INVEMAR. 37(2): 221-225.

- Gouveia L, Batista AP, Sousa I, Raymundo A and Bandarra NM. 2008. Microalgae in novel food products. In Algae: Nutrition, Pollution Control and Energy Sources.
- Guedes AC and Malcata FX. 2012. Nutritional Value and Uses of Microalgae in Aquaculture. Aquaculture. 10(1516): 59–78.
- Güroy D, Güroy B, Merrifield DL, Ergün S, Tekinay AA and Yiit M. 2011. Effect of dietary *Ulva* and *Spirulina* on weight loss and body composition of rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum), during a starvation period. Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition. 95(3): 320–327.
- Hemaiswarya S, Raja R, Kumar RR, Ganesan V and Anbazhagan C. 2011. Microalgae: A sustainable feed source for aquaculture. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology. 27(8): 1737–1746.
- Hossain MM and Chakraborty SC. 2017. Growth and economic analysis of freshwater prawn, *Macrobrachium rosenbergii*, produced with feeds substituting sunflower cake for fish meal, soya bean meal and mustard oil cake. Aquaculture Research. 48(10): 5418–5429.
- Iba W, Rice MA and Wikfors GH. 2014. Microalgae in Eastern Pacific White Shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei* (Boone 1931) hatcheries: A Review on Roles and Culture Environments. Asian Fisheries Science. 27: 212–233.
- Islam MS. 2008. From pond to plate: Towards a twin-driven commodity chain in Bangladesh shrimp aquaculture. Food Policy. 33(3): 209–223.
- Jamali H, Ahmadifard N and Abdollahi D. 2015. Evaluation of growth, survival and body composition of larval white shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*) fed the combination of three types of algae. International Aquatic Research. 7(2): 115– 122.
- Jiang SG, Huang JH, Zhou FL, Chen X Yang QB, Wen WG and Ma ZM. 2009. Observations of reproductive development and maturation of male *Penaeus monodon* reared in tidal and earthen ponds. Aquaculture. 292(1–2): 121–128.

- Ju ZY, Forster IP and Dominy WG. 2009. Effects of supplementing two species of marine algae or their fractions to a formulated diet on growth, survival and composition of shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*). Aquaculture. 292(3–4): 237– 243.
- Juario JV and Storch V. 1984. Biological evaluation of phytoplankton (*Chlorella* sp, *Tetraselmis* sp. and *Isochrysis* galbana) as food for milkfish (*Chanos chanos*) fry. Aquaculture. 40(3): 193–198.
- Kayim M, Ates M and Elekon. H. A. 2010. The effects of different feedss under the same salinity coditions on the growth snd survival rete of artemia. Journal Of Animal and Veterinary Advances. 9(6). 1030-1033.
- Kay RA and Barton LL. 1991. Microalgae as Food and Supplement. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition. 30(6): 555–573.
- Khatoon H, Abdu Rahman N, Banerjee S, Harun N, Suleiman SS, Zakaria NH, Lananan F, Abdul Hamid SH and Endut A. 2014. Effects of different salinities and pH on the growth and proximate composition of *Nannochloropsis* sp. and *Tetraselmis* sp. isolated from South China Sea cultured under control and natural condition. International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation. 95: 11–18.
- Khatoon H, Haris H, Rahman NA, Zakaria MN, Begum H and Mian S. 2018. Growth, Proximate Composition and Pigment Production of *Tetraselmis chuii* Cultured with Aquaculture Wastewater. Journal of Ocean University of China. 17(3): 641–646.
- Khatoon H, Yusoff FM, Banerjee S, Shariff M and Mohamed S. 2007. Use of periphytic cyanobacterium and mixed diatoms coated substrate for improving water quality, survival and growth of *Penaeus monodon* Fabricius postlarvae. Aquaculture. 271(1–4): 196–205.
- Kim MS, Min EY, Kim JH, Koo JK and Kang JC. 2015. Growth performance and immunological and antioxidant status of Chinese shrimp, *Fennerpenaeus chinensis* reared in bio-floc culture system using probiotics. Fish and Shellfish Immunology. 47(1): 141–146.
- Kiron V, Phromkunthong W, Huntley M, Archibald I and De Scheemaker G. 2012.

Marine microalgae from biorefinery as a potential feed protein source for Atlantic salmon, common carp and whiteleg shrimp. Aquaculture Nutrition. 18(5): 521–531.

- Kong W, Song H, Cao Y, Yang H, Hua S and Xia C. 2002. African journal of biotechnology. African Journal of Biotechnology. 10(55): 11620–11630.
- Koru E, and Delice GG. 2014. Microalgae And Their Cultivation System To Produce Biodiesel. Ibu Journal of Science and Technology, May.
- Kris-Etherton PM, Grieger JA and Etherton TD. 2009. Dietary reference intakes for DHA and EPA. Prostaglandins Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids. 81(2–3): 99–104.
- Kuttyamma VJ. 1974. Observation on the food and feeding of some penaeid prawn of Cochin Area. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of India. 15(1): 189–194.
- Lee MC, Zhuo LC and Lin YH. 2018. Effects of dietary docosahexaenoic acid sources, microalgae meal and oil, on growth, fatty acid composition and docosahexaenoic acid retention of orange-spotted grouper, *Epinephelus coioides*. Aquaculture Research. 49(1): 30–35.
- Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr LA and Randall RJ. 1951. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 193: 265–275.
- Loya-Javellana GN. 1989. Ingestion saturation and growth responses of *Penaeus monodon* larvae to food density. Aquaculture. 81(3–4): 329–336.
- Maliwat GC, Velasquez S, Robil JL, Chan M, Traifalgar RF, Tayamen, M and Ragaza JA. 2017. Growth and immune response of giant freshwater prawn *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* (De Man) postlarvae fed diets containing *Chlorella vulgaris* (Beijerinck). Aquaculture Research. 48(4): 1666–1676.
- Marsh JB and Weinstein, DB. 1966. Simple charring method for determination of lipids. Journal of Lipid Research. 7(4): 574–576.
- Marte CL. 1980. The Food and Feeding Habit of *Penaeus Monodon* Fabricius Collected From Makato River, Aklan, Philippines (Decapoda Natantia). Crustaceana. 38(3): 225–236.

- Masojídek J and Torzillo G. 2008. Mass Cultivation of Freshwater Microalgae. Encyclopedia of Ecology, Five-Volume Set, 2226–2235.
- Michaud CVP. 2013. Highly valuable microalgae: biochemical and topological aspects. Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology. 40(8): 781-796
- Michiels J, Skrivanova E, Missotten J, Ovyn A, Mrazek J, De Smet S and Dierick N.
 2011. Intact brown seaweed (*Ascophyllum nodosum*) in diets of weaned piglets:
 Effects on performance, gut bacteria and morphology and plasma oxidative status. Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition. 96(6): 1101–1111.
- Mohamed KH. 1967. Synopsis of Biological data on the jumbo tiger prawn *Penaeus monodon* Fabrioius 1798. FAO World Scientific Conference on the Biology and Culture of Shrimps and Prrawns. 3(57): 1–15.
- Mosha EJ, and Gallardo WG. 2013. Distribution and size composition of penaeid prawns, *Penaeus monodon* and *Penaeus indicus* in Saadan estuarine area, Tanzania. Ocean and Coastal Management. 82: 51–63.
- Motoh H. 1981. Studies on the fisheries biology of the giant tiger prawn, *Penaeus monodon* in the Philippines. SEAFDEC, Philippines. 7: 1–128.
- Motoh H. 1985. Biology and Ecology of *Penaeus monodon*. Proceedings of the First International Conference on the Culture of Penaeid Prawns/Shrimps, Iloilo City, Philippines, 4-7 December 1984 . Aquaculture Department, Southeast Asian Fisheries Development Center.
- Motoh H and Buri P. 1981. Identification of postlarvae of the genus *Penaeus monodon* appearing on shore waters. Researches on Crustacea. 11: 86–94.
- Motoh H. 1985. Biology and culture of *Penaeus monodon*. In SEAFDEC Aquaculture Department. Proceedings of the First International Conference on the Culture of Penaeid Prawns/Shrimps.
- Mujtaba G, Rizwan M and Lee K. 2015. Simultaneous removal of inorganic nutrients and organic carbon by symbiotic co-culture of *Chlorella vulgaris* and *Pseudomonas putida*. Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering. 20(6): 1114– 1122.

Muller-Feuga A. 2000. The role of microalgae in aquaculture: Situation and trends.
Journal of Applied Phycology. 12(3–5): 527–534.

- Nakagawa H. 1997. Effect of dietary algae on improvement of lipid metabolism in fish. Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy. 51(8): 345–348.
- Nath PR, Khozin-Goldberg I, Cohen Z, Boussiba S and Zilberg D. 2012. Dietary supplementation with the microalgae *Parietochloris incisa* increases survival and stress resistance in guppy (*Poecilia reticulata*) fry. Aquaculture Nutrition. 18(2): 167–180.
- Nuñez M, Lodeiros C and Donato MDE. 2002. Evaluation of microalgae diets for *Litopenaeus vannamei* larvae using a simple protocol. Aquaculture International. 10: 177–187.
- Oujifard A, Seyfabadi J, Kenari AA and Rezaei M. 2012. Growth and apparent digestibility of nutrients, fatty acids and amino acids in Pacific white shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei*, fed diets with rice protein concentrate as total and partial replacement of fish meal. Aquaculture. 342: 56-61.
- Ozkan A and Berberoglu H. 2013. Physico-chemical surface properties of microalgae. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces. 112: 287–293.
- Patil V, Källqvist T, Olsen E, Vogt G and Gislerød HR. 2007. Fatty acid composition of 12 microalgae for possible use in aquaculture feed. Aquaculture International. 15(1): 1–9.
- Paul BG and Vogl CR. 2011. Impacts of shrimp farming in Bangladesh: Challenges and alternatives. Ocean and Coastal Management. 54(3): 201–211.
- Phukan MM, Chutia RS, Konwar BK and Kataki R. 2011. Microalgae *Chlorella* as a potential bio-energy feedstock. Applied Energy. 88(10): 3307–3312.
- Piña P Voltolina D, Nieves M and Robles M. 2006. Survival, development and growth of the Pacific white shrimp *Litopenaeus vannamei* protozoea larvae, fed with monoalgal and mixed diets. Aquaculture. 253(1–4): 523–530.
- Pulz O and Gross, W. 2004. Valuable products from biotechnology of microalgae. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. 65(6): 635–648.

Racek A and Yaldwyn, J. C. 1970. Notes on littoral penaeinae (Crustacea:Decapoda)

from the New Guinea area.95(3): 209–214.

- Rahman ARA, Cob ZC, Jamari Z, Mohamed AM, Toda T and Ross OH. 2018. The effects of microalgae as live food for *Brachionus plicatilis* (Rotifer) in intensive culture system. Tropical Life Sciences Research. 29(1): 127–138.
- Rahman MM and Hossain MM. 2009. Production and Export of Shrimp of Bangladesh: Problems and Prospects. 20: 163–171.
- Richmond A. 2004. Handbook of Microalgal Culture: biotechnology and applied phycology (Vol. 577). In Blackwell Publishing Oxford.
- Rönnbäck P, Macia A, Almqvist G, Schultz L and Troell M. 2002. Do penaeid shrimps have a preference for mangrove habitats? Distribution pattern analysis on Inhaca Island, Mozambique. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science. 55(3): 427–436.
- Safafar H, Wagenen JV, Møller P and Jacobsen C. 2015. Carotenoids, phenolic compounds and tocopherols contribute to the antioxidative properties of some microalgae species grown on industrial wastewater. Marine Drugs. 13(12): 7339–7356.
- Salze G, McLean E, Battle PR, Schwarz MH and Craig SR. 2010. Use of soy protein concentrate and novel ingredients in the total elimination of fish meal and fish oil in diets for juvenile cobia, *Rachycentron canadum*. Aquaculture. 298(3–4) 294– 299.
- Samorì G, Samorì C, Guerrini F and Pistocchi R. 2013. Growth and nitrogen removal capacity of *Desmodesmus communis* and of a natural microalgae consortium in a batch culture system in view of urban wastewater treatment: Part I. Water Research. 47(2): 791–801.
- Sánchez-Lozano NB, Martínez-Llorens S, Tomás-Vidal A and Cerdá MJ. 2009. Effect of high-level fish meal replacement by pea and rice concentrate protein on growth, nutrient utilization and fillet quality in gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*, L.). Aquaculture. 298(1–2): 83–89.
- Santoyo S, Jaime L, Plaza M, Herrero M, Rodriguez-Meizoso I, Ibañez E and Reglero G. 2012. Antiviral compounds obtained from microalgae commonly used as carotenoid sources. Journal of Applied Phycology. 24(4): 731–741.

- Sarker PK, Kapuscinski AR, Lanois AJ, Livesey ED, Bernhard KP and Coley ML. 2016. Towards sustainable aquafeeds: Complete substitution of fish oil with marine microalga *Schizochytrium* sp. improves growth and fatty acid deposition in juvenile Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). PLoS ONE. 11(6): 1–17.
- Shah MR, Lutzu GA, Alam A, Sarker P, Kabir Chowdhury MA, Parsaeimehr A, Liang Y and Daroch, M. 2018. Microalgae in aquafeeds for a sustainable aquaculture industry. Journal of Applied Phycology. 30(1): 197–213.
- Shanab SMM, Mostafa, S M, Shalaby, EA and Mahmoud GI. 2012. Aqueous extracts of microalgae exhibit antioxidant and anticancer activities. Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine. 2(8): 608–615.
- Sheikhzadeh N, Tayefi-Nasrabadi H, Oushani AK and Enferadi MHN. 2012. Effects of Haematococcus Pluvialis Supplementation on Antioxidant System and Metabolism in Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Fish Physiology and Biochemistry. 38(2): 413–419.
- Shields RJ and Lupatsch I. 2012. Algae for Aquaculture and Animal Feeds. Technikfolgenabschätzung in Theorie und Praxis. 21(1): 23–37.
- Sick LV and Andrews JW. 1973. The effect of selected dietary lipids, carbohydrates and proteins on the growth, survival and body composition of Penaeusduorarum. Proceedings of the Annual Workshop. World Mariculture Society. 4(1–4): 263– 276.
- Sivakumar N, Sundararaman M and Selvakumar G. 2011. Efficacy of micro algae and cyanobacteria as a live feed for juveniles of shrimp *Penaeus monodon*. African Journal of Biotechnology. 10(55): 11594-11599.
- Spolaore P, Joannis-Cassan C, Duran E and Isambert A. 2006. Commercial applications of microalgae. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering. 101(2): 87–96.
- Stengel DB, Connan S and Popper ZA. 2011. Algal chemodiversity and bioactivity: Sources of natural variability and implications for commercial application. Biotechnology Advances. 29(5): 483–501.
- Suárez JA, Gaxiola G, Mendoza R, Cadavid S, Garcia G, Alanis G, Suárez A, Faillace J and Cuzon G. 2009. Substitution of fish meal with plant protein sources and

energy budget for white shrimp *Litopenaeus vannamei* (Boone, 1931). Aquaculture. 289(1–2): 118–123.

- Supamattaya K, Kiriratnikom S, Boonyaratpalin M and Borowitzka L. 2005. Effect of a Dunaliella extract on growth performance, health condition, immune response and disease resistance in black tiger shrimp (*Penaeus monodon*). Aquaculture. 248(1–4): 207–216.
- Tacon AGJ and Metian M. 2008. Global overview on the use of fish meal and fish oil in industrially compounded aquafeeds: Trends and future prospects. Aquaculture. 285(1–4): 146–158.
- Tan B, Mai K, Zheng S, Zhou Q, Liu L and Yu Y. 2005. Replacement of fish meal by meat and bone meal in practical diets for the white shrimp *Litopenaeus vannamai* (Boone). Aquaculture Research. 36(5): 439–444.
- Tejera N, Cejas JR, Rodríguez C, Bjerkeng B, Jerez S, Bolaños A and Lorenzo A. 2007. Pigmentation, carotenoids, lipid peroxides and lipid composition of skin of red porgy (*Pagrus pagrus*) fed diets supplemented with different astaxanthin sources. Aquaculture. 270(1–4): 218–230.
- Teshima S, Kanazawa A and Sasada H. 1982. Requirements of the Larval Prawn, *Penaeus japonicus*, for Cholesterol and Soybean Phospholipids. Memoirs of Faculty of Fisheries Kagoshima University. 31: 193–199.
- Thomas MM. 1972. Food and feeding habits of *Penaeus monodon* Fabricius from korapuzha estuary. Indian Journal of Fisheries. 19: 202–204.
- Thompson FL, Abreu PC and Wasielesky W. 2002. Importance of biofilm for water quality and nourishment in intensive shriThompson, Fabiano Lopes, Paulo Cesar Abreu, and Wilson Wasielesky. 2002. "Importance of Biofilm for Water Quality and Nourishment in Intensive Shrimp Culture." Aquaculture. 203(3–4): 263–278.
- Tibbetts SM, Bjornsson WJ and McGinn P. J. 2015. Biochemical composition and amino acid profiles of Nannochloropsis granulata algal biomass before and after supercritical fluid CO2 extraction at two processing temperatures. Animal Feed Science and Technology. 204: 62–71.

Tibbetts SM, Whitney CG, MacPherson MJ, Bhatti S, Banskota AH, Stefanova R and

McGinn PJ. 2015. Biochemical characterization of microalgal biomass from freshwater species isolated in Alberta, Canada for animal feed applications. Algal Research. 11: 435–447.

- Tokuşoglu Ö and Ünal MK. 2003. Biomass Nutrient Profiles of Three Microalgae: Spirulina platensis, Chlorella vulgaris, and Isochrisis galbana. Journal of Food Science. 68(4): 1144–1148.
- Tredici MR, Biondi N, Ponis E, Rodolfi L and Chini Zittelli G. 2009. Advances in microalgal culture for aquaculture feed and other uses. In New Technologies in Aquaculture: Improving Production Efficiency, Quality and Environmental Management. Woodhead Publishing Limited.
- Turner JL, Dritz SS, Higgins JJ and Minton JE. 2002. Effects of Ascophyllum nodosum extract on growth performance and immune function of young pigs challenged with *Salmonella typhimurium* The online version of this article , along with updated information and services , is located on the World Wide Web at : Jounal of Animal Science. 1947–1953.
- Wang, Chen C, Huynh P and Chang J. 2015. Bioresource Technology Exploring the potential of using algae in cosmetics. Bioresource Technology. 184. 355–362.
- Wang YB. 2007. Effect of probiotics on growth performance and digestive enzyme activity of the shrimp *Penaeus vannamei*. Aquaculture. 269(1–4): 259–264.
- Wyk PV. 1999. Nutrition and feeding of *Litopenaeus vannamei* in intensive culture systems. Farming Marine Shrimp in Recirculating Freshwater Systems. 125–139.
- Xu H, Miao X and Wu Q. 2006. High quality biodiesel production from a microalga *Chlorella* protothecoides by heterotrophic growth in fermenters. Journal of Biotechnology. 126(4): 499–507.
- Uddin SNJ and Ghosh S. 2020. Studies on the Stock Structure, Reproductive Biology and Trohodynamics of *Penaeus monodon* (Fabricus) at Digha coast, West Bengal, India.
- Yamaguchi K. 1996. Recent advances in microalgal bioscience in Japan, with special reference to utilization of biomass and metabolites: A review. Journal of Applied Phycology. 8(6): 487–502.

- Yamamoto M, Fujishita M, Hirata A and Kawano S. 2004. Regeneration and maturation of daughter cell walls in the autospore-forming green alga *Chlorella vulgaris* (Chlorophyta, Trebouxiophyceae). Journal of Plant Research. 117(4): 257–264.
- Yang S, Wu Z, Jian J and Zhang, X. 2010. Effect of marine red yeast Rhodosporidium paludigenum on growth and antioxidant competence of *Litopenaeus vannamei*. Aquaculture. 309(1–4): 62–65.
- Yeh ST, Lee CS and Chen JC. 2006. Administration of hot-water extract of brown seaweed Sargassum duplicatum via immersion and injection enhances the immune resistance of white shrimp Litopenaeus vannamei. Fish and Shellfish Immunology. 20(3): 332–345.
- Zhang J, Liu Y, Tian L Yang H, Liang G and Xu D. 2012. Effects of dietary mannan oligosaccharide on growth performance, gut morphology and stress tolerance of juvenile Pacific white shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei*. Fish and Shellfish Immunology. 33(4): 1027–1032.
- Ziaei-Nejad S, Rezaei MH, Takami GA, Lovett DL, Mirvaghefi, AR and Shakouri M. 2006. The effect of *Bacillus* spp. bacteria used as probiotics on digestive enzyme activity, survival and growth in the Indian white shrimp *Fenneropenaeus indicus*. Aquaculture. 252(2–4): 516–524.

APPENDICES

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Culture of *Tetraselmis chuii*



Appendix 2: Mass culture of *Tetraselmis chuii*



Appendix A.3: Culture of Chlorella vulgaris



Appendix 4: Mass culture of Chlorella vulgaris



Appendix 5: Centrifuging to collect biomass of microalgae



Appendix 6: Dry biomass of microalgae



Appendix 7: Formulated feed (CF, T25, T50, T75, CH25, CH50 and CH75)



Appendix 8: Experimental setup for feeding experiment



Appendix 9: Feeding with formulated feed (CF, T25, T50, T75, CH25, CH50 and CH75)



Appendix 10: PLs counted at the end of experiment



Appendix 11: One-way Analysis of Variance examining the water quality of treatment tanks of *Penaeus monodon* after the microalgae used as diet

ANOVA

TAN					
	Sum of		Mean		
	Squares	df	Square	F	Sig.
Between	1.289	3	.430	27.495	.000
Groups					
Within Groups	.500	32	.016		
Total	1.789	35			

ANOVA

NO ₂ O					
	Sum of		Mean		
	Squares	df	Square	F	Sig.
Between	.825	3	.275	17.489	.000
Groups					
Within Groups	.503	32	.016		
Total	1.329	35			

Appendix 12: One-way Analysis of Variance examining the protein, lipid and carbohydrate content of treatment tanks of *Penaeus monodon* after the microalgae used as diet

ANOVA

PL Protein					
	Sum of		Mean		
	Squares	df	Square	F	Sig.
Between	232.571	6	38.762	22.578	.000
Groups					
Within Groups	24.035	14	1.717		
Total	256.606	20			

	Protein								
	VAR0000		S	5					
	1	Ν	1	2	3	4			
Tukey	3.00	3	29.0000						
HSD ^a	6.00	3	29.0000						
	1.00	3	30.0000	30.0000					
	7.00	3		32.6667	32.6667				
	2.00	3			34.0000				
	4.00	3			34.0000				
	5.00	3				39.0000			
	Sig.		.960	.233	.864	1.000			
Duncan ^a	3.00	3	29.0000						
	6.00	3	29.0000						
	1.00	3	30.0000						
	7.00	3		32.6667					
	2.00	3		34.0000					
	4.00	3		34.0000					
	5.00	3			39.0000				
	Sig.		.390	.256	1.000				
Scheffe ^a	3.00	3	29.0000						
	6.00	3	29.0000						
	1.00	3	30.0000	30.0000					
	7.00	3	32.6667	32.6667					
	2.00	3		34.0000					
	4.00	3		34.0000					
	5.00	3			39.0000				
	Sig.		.141	.090	1.000				

Means for groups in homogeneous subsets are displayed. a. Uses Harmonic Mean Sample Size = 3.000.

ANOVA

Pl Lipid					
	Sum of		Mean		
	Squares	df	Square	F	Sig.
Between	256.286	6	42.714	87.583	.001
Groups					
Within Groups	6.828	14	.488		
Total	263.114	20			

	Lipid							
	VAR0000			Subset	for alpha =	= 0.05		
	1	Ν	1	2	3	4	5	
Tukey	1.00	3	8.0000					
HSD ^a	6.00	3		10.0000				
	7.00	3			12.0000			
	3.00	3			13.0000	13.0000		
	5.00	3				14.0000		
	2.00	3					18.0000	
	4.00	3					18.0000	
	Sig.		1.000	1.000	.595	.595	1.000	
Duncan ^a	1.00	3	8.0000					
	6.00	3		10.0000				
	7.00	3			12.0000			
	3.00	3			13.0000	13.0000		
	5.00	3				14.0000		
	2.00	3					18.0000	
	4.00	3					18.0000	
	Sig.		1.000	1.000	.101	.101	1.000	
Scheffe ^a	1.00	3	8.0000					
	6.00	3	10.0000	10.0000				
	7.00	3		12.0000	12.0000			
	3.00	3			13.0000			
	5.00	3			14.0000			
	2.00	3				18.0000		
	4.00	3				18.0000		
	Sig.		.126	.126	.126	1.000		

Means for groups in homogeneous subsets are displayed.

a. Uses Harmonic Mean Sample Size = 3.000.

ANOVA

Pl Carbohydrate

	Sum of		Mean		
	Squares	df	Square	F	Sig.
Between	68.571	6	11.429	14.681	.00
Groups					
Within Groups	10.899	14	.778		
Total	79.470	20			

	Carbohydrate							
	VAR0000		S	Subset for $alpha = 0.05$				
	1	Ν	1	2	3	4		
Tukey	1.00	3	7.0000					
HSD ^a	4.00	3		10.0000				
	3.00	3		11.0000	11.0000			
	7.00	3		11.0000	11.0000			
	5.00	3		12.0000	12.0000			
	6.00	3		12.0000	12.0000			
	2.00	3			13.0000			
	Sig.		1.000	.149	.149			
Duncan ^a	1.00	3	7.0000					
	4.00	3		10.0000				
	3.00	3		11.0000	11.0000			
	7.00	3		11.0000	11.0000			
	5.00	3			12.0000	12.0000		
	6.00	3			12.0000	12.0000		
	2.00	3				13.0000		
	Sig.		1.000	.208	.221	.208		
Scheffe ^a	1.00	3	7.0000					
	4.00	3		10.0000				
	3.00	3		11.0000	11.0000			
	7.00	3		11.0000	11.0000			
	5.00	3		12.0000	12.0000			
	6.00	3		12.0000	12.0000			
	2.00	3			13.0000			
	Sig.		1.000	.326	.326			

Means for groups in homogeneous subsets are displayed.

a. Uses Harmonic Mean Sample Size = 3.000.

Appendix 10: One-way Analysis of Variance examining the SGR and Survival rate of treatment tanks of *Penaeus monodon* after the microalgae used as diet

ANOVA

SGR

	Sum of		Mean		
	Squares	df	Square	F	Sig.
Between	8.928	6	1.488	1.639	.009
Groups					
Within Groups	12.707	14	.908		
Total	21.636	20			

ANOVA

Survival					
	Sum of		Mean		
	Squares	df	Square	F	Sig.
Between	1188.617	6	198.103	16.567	.000
Groups					
Within Groups	167.412	14	11.958		
Total	1356.029	20			

	Survival								
	VAR0000		S	ubset for a	lpha = 0.05	5			
	1	Ν	1	2	3	4			
Tukey	7.00	3	40.1600						
HSD ^a	4.00	3	49.5200	49.5200					
	3.00	3		52.2200					
	1.00	3		52.8500	52.8500				
	6.00	3		55.0700	55.0700	55.0700			
	5.00	3			62.3800	62.3800			
	2.00	3				64.4400			
	Sig.		.060	.474	.054	.059			
Duncan ^a	7.00	3	40.1600						
	4.00	3		49.5200					
	3.00	3		52.2200					
	1.00	3		52.8500					
	6.00	3		55.0700					
	5.00	3			62.3800				

69 | Page

	2.00	3			64.4400	
	Sig.		1.000	.090	.478	
Scheffe ^a	7.00	3	40.1600			
	4.00	3	49.5200	49.5200		
	3.00	3		52.2200	52.2200	
	1.00	3		52.8500	52.8500	52.8500
	6.00	3		55.0700	55.0700	55.0700
	5.00	3			62.3800	62.3800
	2.00	3				64.4400
	Sig.		.164	.694	.111	.052

Means for groups in homogeneous subsets are displayed.

a. Uses Harmonic Mean Sample Size = 3.000.

BRIEF BIOGRAPHY

BRIEF BIOGRAPHY

Mohammad Jabedul Islam completed B.Sc. in Fisheries (Hon's) from the Faculty of Fisheries of Chattogram Veterinary and Animal Sciences University (CVASU), Chattogram, Bangladesh with CGPA 3.80 out of 4.00. He has strong passionate in research of fisheries and his research interests are on microalgae identification, isolation and mass culture, used feed for aquaculture and the extraction of pigments, carotenoids and lipid from the microalgae. Now, he is a candidate for the degree of MS in Aquaculture under the Department of Aquaculture, Faculty of Fisheries, Chattogram Veterinary and Animal Sciences University (CVASU).